
 

 
 

 

AGENDA 
 

POLICY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE MEETING 
 
Date: Wednesday, 28 September 2022 
Time:  7.00 pm 
Venue: Council Chamber, Swale House, East Street, Sittingbourne, ME10 3HT* 

 
Membership: 
 
Councillors Mike Baldock (Chair), Monique Bonney (Vice-Chair), Lloyd Bowen, 
Derek Carnell, Mike Dendor, Tim Gibson, Mike Henderson, Alan Horton, Julian Saunders, 
David Simmons, Bill Tatton, Roger Truelove, Tim Valentine, Mike Whiting and 
Corrie Woodford. 
 
Quorum = 5. 

 
  Pages 

Information about this meeting 
*Members of the press and public can listen to this meeting live. Details of how 
to join the meeting will be added to the website on Monday 26 September 2022. 
 
Recording and Privacy Notice  
 
Swale Borough Council is committed to protecting the security of your personal 
information. As data controller we process data in accordance with the Data 
Protection Act 2018 and the UK General Data Protection Regulation. 
 
This meeting may be recorded. The recording will be retained in accordance 
with the Council’s data retention policy and may be published on the Council’s 
website. By entering the chamber and by speaking at a meeting, whether in 
person or online, you are consenting to being recorded and to the recording 
being published. 
 
When joining a meeting online, your username will be visible to others in 
attendance. In joining the meeting you are consenting to us processing your 
username. You may use a pseudonym as your username but the use of an 
inappropriate name may lead to removal from the meeting. 
 
If you have any questions about how we look after your personal information or 
your rights under the legislation, please email 
dataprotectionofficer@swale.gov.uk.  
 

 

1.  Emergency Evacuation Procedure 
 
Visitors and members of the public who are unfamiliar with the building 

and procedures are advised that:  

 

Public Document Pack

mailto:dataprotectionofficer@swale.gov.uk


 

 

(a) The fire alarm is a continuous loud ringing. In the event that a fire 
drill is planned during the meeting, the Chair will advise of this. 

(b) Exit routes from the chamber are located on each side of the room, 
one directly to a fire escape, the other to the stairs opposite the lifts. 

(c) In the event of the alarm sounding, leave the building via the nearest 
safe exit and gather at the assembly point on the far side of the car 
park. Do not leave the assembly point or re-enter the building until 
advised to do so. Do not use the lifts.  

(d) Anyone unable to use the stairs should make themselves known 
during this agenda item. 

  
2.  Apologies for Absence 

 

 

3.  Declarations of Interest 
 
Councillors should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or 

other material benefits for themselves, their families or friends.  

 

The Chair will ask Members if they have any disclosable pecuniary 

interests (DPIs) or disclosable non-pecuniary interests (DNPIs) to declare 

in respect of items on the agenda. Members with a DPI in an item must 

leave the room for that item and may not participate in the debate or vote.   

 

Aside from disclosable interests, where a fair-minded and informed 

observer would think there was a real possibility that a Member might be 

biased or predetermined on an item, the Member should declare this and 

leave the room while that item is considered.  

 

Members who are in any doubt about interests, bias or predetermination 

should contact the monitoring officer for advice prior to the meeting.  

 

4.  Minutes 
 
To approve the Minutes of the meeting held on 13 July 2022 (Minute Nos. 
188 – 200) as correct records.  
  

 

Part A reports for Recommendation to Council 
 

 

5.  Miscellaneous constitution updates 
 

5 - 10 

6.  Sittingbourne Town Centre - Supplementary Planning Document 
 

11 - 108 

Part B Reports for Decision by the Policy and Resources Committee 
 

 

7.  Forward Decisions Plan 
 

109 - 
110 

8.  Financial Management Report - First Quarter Monitoring 2022/23 
 

111 - 
120 

9.  Risk Management update 
 

121 - 
136 

 

https://ws.swale.gov.uk/meetings/documents/g3718/Printed%20minutes%20Wednesday%2013-Jul-2022%2019.00%20Policy%20and%20Resources%20Committee.pdf?T=1


 

 

Issued on Tuesday, 20 September 2022 
 

The reports included in Part I of this agenda can be made available 
in alternative formats. For further information about this service, or 
to arrange for special facilities to be provided at the meeting, please 
contact DEMOCRATIC SERVICES on 01795 417330. To find out 
more about the work of the Committee, please visit 
www.swale.gov.uk 

 
 

 
Chief Executive, Swale Borough Council, 

Swale House, East Street, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 3HT 



This page is intentionally left blank



Policy and Resources Committee   

Meeting Date 28 September 2022 

Report Title Miscellaneous constitution updates 

EMT Lead David Clifford 

Head of Policy, Governance and Customer Services – 
Monitoring Officer 

Head of Service 

Lead Officer 

Classification Open 

Recommendations Policy and Resources committee is recommended to 
propose the following constitutional changes to full council:  

1. Changes to the Environment committee areas of 
responsibility (paragraphs 3.1-3.3 of the report). 

2. An update to the Audit committee areas of responsibility 
(paragraphs 3.4-3.6 of the report). 

3. Changes to the table at section 3.6.7.4 of the contract 
standing orders (paragraphs 3.7-3.9 of the report). 

4. An addition to the list of areas to which the contract 
standing orders do not apply (section 3.6.2.3 of the 
constitution) (paragraph 3.10 of the report). 

5. Changes to the preamble to the scheme of officer 
delegations (sections 2.8.1.13 and 2.8.1.15 of the 
constitution) (paragraphs 3.11-3.14 of the report). 

6. A further change to the preamble to the scheme of 
officer delegations (section 2.8.1.5 of the constitution) 
(paragraphs 3.15-3.16 of the report). 

7. A new delegation to the director of resources 
(paragraph 3.17 of the report).  

 

1 Purpose of Report and Executive Summary 
 
1.1 This report explains the background to a number of fairly minor amendments to 

the constitution, and invites the Policy and Resources committee to propose 
these to full council. 

 

2 Background 
 
2.1 Council voted unanimously in October last year to move to a committee system of 

governance from the 2022/23 municipal year. At the same meeting, council 
requested the cross-party working group which had been established to consider 
this governance change to continue its work in overseeing the detail of the new 

Page 5

Agenda Item 5



constitution. The working group comprises Cllrs Baldock (chair), Bonney, Darby, 
Henderson, Ingleton, Simmons, Truelove and Valentine. 
 

2.2 Since the adoption of the new constitution in April and its coming into effect in 
May, the working group has continued to meet, with a view both to monitoring the 
working of the new constitution in practice and recommending improvements 
where necessary, and to working through the ‘issues log’ of areas of the old 
constitution which the group agreed could benefit from review but which were not 
essential to implementing the move to the committee system. 
 

2.3 It is important that the whole constitution is kept under ongoing review, both as a 
means of ensuring that it is as clear and unambiguous as it can be and of 
enabling changes suggested by members or officers aimed at improving the 
efficiency and effectiveness of decision-making to be considered and, where 
appropriate, implemented. The working group provides a helpful forum for 
debating such proposals, several of which were discussed at its meeting in early 
September. These are set out in the ‘proposals’ section below.  

 

3 Proposals 
 

Environment committee areas of responsibility 
 

3.1 Section 2.3.3 of the constitution currently sets out the areas of responsibility of 
the Environment committee as follows: 

• Refuse collection and recycling; 

• Street cleansing;  

• Climate and ecological emergency; 

• Environmental response, including fly-tipping, contaminated land, animal 
welfare, pollution control, littering and illegal encampments; 

• Environmental health, including management of public health and safety risks; 

• Air quality; 

• Green spaces, open spaces and grounds maintenance; 

• Flooding, sea defences and coastal protection; 

• Active travel; and 

• Public conveniences. 
 

3.2 The chair of the Environment committee has highlighted that some of these bullet 
points include matters which span the responsibilities of multiple heads of service, 
and has requested that these are consolidated into the following list, which covers 
exactly the same matters but grouped into a more logical order: 

• Refuse collection and recycling; 

• Street cleansing; 

Page 6



• Climate and ecological emergency; 

• Air quality; 

• Active travel; 

• Environmental response, including fly-tipping, animal welfare, littering and 
illegal encampments; 

• Environmental health, including management of public health and safety risks, 
contaminated land, and pollution control; 

• Green spaces, open spaces and grounds maintenance; 

• Flooding, sea defences and coastal protection; and  

• Public conveniences. 
 

3.3 Policy and Resources committee is now recommended to propose this change 
to full council.  
 
Audit committee areas of responsibility 
 

3.4 Section 2.4.1.3 (ii) of the constitution currently states that the Audit committee 
should “consider reports dealing with the management and performance of 
Internal Audit Services, including consideration and endorsement of the 3 year 
Strategic Internal Audit Plan”.  
 

3.5 The interim head of Mid-Kent audit has advised that audit planning is no longer by 
means of three-year strategic plans, and has requested that this wording be 
amended to the more generic “…including consideration and endorsement of 
internal audit plans”.  
 

3.6 Policy and Resources committee is now recommended to propose this change 
to full council.   
 
Contract standing orders 
 

3.7 The table at section 3.6.7.4 of the constitution sets out the financial thresholds 
and procurement procedures. A number of rows in this table covering smaller 
amounts of spend for which committee approval is not required state that 
decisions should be ‘in agreement with’ or ‘agreed by’ the relevant committee 
chair.  
 

3.8 In the absence of individual member decision-making in the committee system, 
the formula used elsewhere is for decisions to be ‘in consultation with’ the 
committee chair. This does clarify that any formal decision is by the officer, and is 
arguably a less ambiguous formulation than using the word ‘agreed’.  
 

3.9 Policy and Resources committee is now recommended to propose to full council 
that wording based on ‘agreed’ or ‘agreement’ should be changed to ‘in 
consultation with’ in all four of the relevant rows in this table.  

Page 7



 
3.10 A further change which has been requested by the commissioning manager is to 

add a point to section 3.6.2.3, which sets out areas to which the contract standing 
orders do not apply. This would be added as rule 3.6.2.3.8, covering ‘Agency staff 
where the current contract or framework agreements are not suitable due to the 
specialist nature of roles and/or higher pricing’. Policy and Resources committee 
is recommended to propose this change to full council.  
 
Scheme of officer delegations 
 

3.11 The preamble to the scheme of officer delegations currently includes the following 
text: 
 
2.8.1.13 The delegated powers held by an officer may be exercised by the line 
manager of that officer, and any Director or Head of Service may authorise other 
responsible officers (who have the relevant skills and knowledge) to act on their 
behalf, provided that there is a written record of such authorisation. A central 
record will be kept.  
 
2.8.1.14 Where the Council, a Committee or Sub-Committee has delegated a 
function to an officer, the person or body making the delegation may at any time 
resume responsibility for the function either in respect of a particular matter or 
generally, and so may exercise the function despite the delegation.  
 
2.8.1.15 In determining the suitability of an officer to be given this authority, 
regard must be had to the nature of the authority being given, the seniority of the 
post, the experience of the relevant officer and all other relevant circumstances 
so as to ensure that the authority and the relevant officer are appropriately 
matched. This authorisation must:  

• Be in writing, dated and signed by the officer giving the authority;  

• Specifically identify the post and person authorised to carry out the functions;  

• Specifically identify the functions to which the authorisation relates (attach an 
extract from the scheme as the numbering may change over time); and  

• Identify any conditions (if any) to which the authorisation is subject. 
 

3.12 It is strange that section 2.8.1.14 appears where it does, in between two 
paragraphs which appear to say similar things in different words. It may be that 
one of these two paragraphs was adopted at some point in the past as a 
replacement for the other, but that the other was not deleted.  
 

3.13 The council does maintain a system for keeping records of what are now known 
as ‘onward delegations’ from officers who have a direct delegation down to more 
junior officers. Section 2.8.1.13 probably covers this point in sufficient detail, but 
there are potentially some safeguards in 2.8.1.15 which it would be sensible to 
retain.  
 

Page 8



3.14 With this in mind, Policy and Resources committee is recommended to propose 
to council that section 2.8.1.15 is deleted and section 2.8.1.13 amended to read 
as follows: 
 
2.8.1.13 The delegated powers held by an officer may be exercised by the line 
manager of that officer. Any officer with a delegation in this scheme of 
delegations may authorise other responsible officers who have the relevant skills 
and knowledge to act on their behalf. A written record of such onward delegations 
will be kept, identifying the post to whom the delegation is given, the precise 
delegation(s) involved, and any conditions to which the onward delegation is 
subject.  
 

3.15 Section 2.8.1.5 of the preamble to the scheme of officer delegation currently 
reads as follows: 
 
Any post referred to below shall be deemed to include any successor post or a 
post which includes within the job description elements relevant to any particular 
delegation, which were also present in the earlier post and shall include anyone 
acting up or seconded. 
 

3.16 Simply for the avoidance of doubt, and based on a similar provision in the 
Maidstone constitution, Mid-Kent legal officers have suggested that this should be 
expanded slightly to read “…in the earlier post and shall include anyone acting 
up, seconded, or employed on an interim basis”. Policy and Resources committee 
is now recommended to propose this change to full council. 
 

3.17 Finally, in the interests of efficient and effective decision-making, the director of 
resources has requested a new delegation as delegation 2.8.7.26, “To determine 
the most appropriate source of funding for the capital programme each year in 
order to minimise borrowing costs”. Policy and Resources committee is now 
recommended to propose this change to full council.   

 

4 Alternative Options Considered and Rejected 
 
4.1 The recommendations in this report are aimed primarily at ‘tidying up’ the 

constitution rather than making radical changes. Nonetheless, some of the 
proposals would have a substantive impact. The view of officers and of the 
constitution working group is that these impacts will be positive in terms of the 
efficiency and effectiveness of council decision-making, but Policy and Resources 
committee could legitimately decline to propose any or all of them to full council. 

 

5 Consultation Undertaken or Proposed 
 
5.1 A draft version of this report was discussed in detail by the constitution working 

group at its meeting in early September, and the proposals in this final version 
reflect the outcome of those discussions.  

 

Page 9



6 Implications 
 

Issue Implications 

Corporate Plan Ensuring that the constitution is as clearly written and logically 
structured as possible, and that its provisions enable efficient and 
effective decision-making, is essential to the council achieving all 
of its strategic corporate objectives. The recommendations in this 
report particularly support the fourth corporate plan priority of 
‘Renewing local democracy and making the council fit for the 
future’.  

Financial, 
Resource and 
Property 

Amendments to the delegations to the director of resources, aimed 
at improving the efficiency and effectiveness of decision-making, 
are proposed in the body of the report.  

Legal, Statutory 
and Procurement 

Amendments to the contract standing orders, aimed at improving 
the efficiency and effectiveness of decision-making, are proposed 
in the body of the report. 

Crime and 
Disorder 

No implications identified at this stage. 

Environment and 
Climate/Ecological 
Emergency 

No implications identified at this stage. 

Health and 
Wellbeing 

No implications identified at this stage. 

Safeguarding of 
Children, Young 
People and 
Vulnerable Adults 

No implications identified at this stage. 

Risk Management 
and Health and 
Safety 

No implications identified at this stage. 

Equality and 
Diversity 

No implications identified at this stage. 

Privacy and Data 
Protection 

No implications identified at this stage. 

 

7 Appendices 
 
7.1 There are no appendices. 
 

8 Background Papers 
 
8.1 There are no background papers.  

Page 10



7/9/22 Page 1 of 6 

Policy and Resources Committee Meeting  

Meeting Date Wednesday, 28 September 2022 7.00 pm 

Report Title Sittingbourne Town Centre, Supplementary Planning 
Document, Statement of Consultation Report, June 2022. 

Sittingbourne Town Centre, Final Supplementary Planning 
Document, July 2022.  

EMT Lead Emma Wiggins, Director of Regeneration and 
Neighbourhoods 

Head of Service Flo Churchill, Interim Head of Planning 

Lead Officer Alison Peters, Principal Urban Design and Landscape 
Officer 

Classification Open 

Recommendations 1. Approve the revisions to the SPD due to feedback from 
the consultation. 

2. Propose adoption to Full Council. 

 
 

1 Purpose of Report and Executive Summary 
 
1.1 With a view to scope the approaches for the future of Sittingbourne town centre in 

2020 the Council held a workshop for Councillors. The findings formed the basis 
of a long-term strategic vision for Sittingbourne that meets the needs and 
aspirations of a broad range of users and stakeholders to achieve the ambition to 
shape a place where people want to live, work and spend their leisure time within 
an active high street.  
 

1.2 The Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) was developed over 2021 and 
summarises the drivers for change as the follows:  

• Residential - more residents in and around the Town Centre, 

• Creative, cultural, social – historic environment, more culture, arts, creativity, 
health and education, 

• Employment – employment creation and retention, and  

• Events and activities – events, activities, family use, temporary pop-ups.  
 

1.3 The aim was for a highly graphic explanatory document that should excite the 
community, provide guidance and certainty for the stakeholders such as 
landowners and set a steer with regards planning and design policy for the 
Council’s Development Management role.  

 
 
 
 

Page 11

Agenda Item 6



7/9/22 Page 2 of 6 

2 Background 
 
2.1 It is known that our town centres are changing - the way in which we shop, move, 

socialise and interact has changed and will continue to change even more in the 
wake of Covid-19. Town centres therefore need to adapt and reposition 
themselves in order that they continue to thrive and meet the needs of their local 
communities.  Sittingbourne town centre requires refurbishment, regeneration 
and public realm investment. Like many smaller towns it has struggled in the 
recessionary period, suffering declining sales, footfall and closures.  The 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) is a proactive plan to transform the 
place, looking not only to future retail and development, but to other uses and 
activities, that may draw people, enhance prosperity and improve the look, role 
and general feel of the town centre including the needs of businesses, 
landowners, traders and the community. 

 
 

3 Proposals 
 
3.1 Feedback from the statutory consultation of the SPD was received both 

electronically from members of the community as well as statutory consultees. 
There were twenty-four respondents in total of which three used the portal. The 
full list of consultees and their detailed comments are available to view on the 
Council’s website. A summary of the main points of the consultation can be found 
in Appendix I.   
 

 

4 Alternative Options Considered and Rejected 
 
4.1 The alternative, having in place no SPD for Sittingbourne Town Centre, was 

considered.  This alternative was rejected for the following reasons: 
a. The aim is to achieve up to 850 dwellings in the town centre, therefore the 

document will be used by Development Management to assess planning 
applications and pre-applications providing ‘material weight’ for planning 
application assessments, 

b. Having no SPD in place is likely to result in more time taken to assess 
each planning application as well as inconsistency between assessments 
depending on individual officers’ assessment, 

c. The SPD provides clarity of the objectives and physical form expected in 
the town centre with a clear long-term vision and is therefore beneficial to 
the future of the borough 

 
 

5 Consultation Undertaken or Proposed 
 
5.1 In some circumstances an SPD may require a Strategic Environmental 

Assessment (SEA) to assess whether there are likely to be any significant 
environmental effects. The Council has carried out a ‘screening’ of the 
Sittingbourne Town Centre SPD to determine whether a SEA and an assessment 

Page 12



7/9/22 Page 3 of 6 

under the Habitats Regulation Assessment (HRA) is required.  Following 
consultation with the Environment Agency, Historic England and Natural England 
the Council have determined that the SPD does not require a SEA or Appropriate 
Assessment under the Habitats Regulations. The final version of the SEA/HRA 
Screening Report can be found in Appendix II. 
 

5.2 A Supplementary Planning Document has is a formal consultation process as set 
out in the Statement of Community Involvement as follows: 

 

 

Page 13



7/9/22 Page 4 of 6 

 
 

5.3 The consultation that took place for the STC included the following: 
 

Statutory Consultation 

• Online Questionnaire– 6 weeks.  

• Hard copies of questionnaire made available at Libraries (subject to public 

health guidelines). 

• Specifically contact Statutory Consultees, persons carrying out business and 

activity in the area and residents of the town centre – 800 letters were issued 

advising of the consultation. 

• Contact with journalists and the press. 

• Alert the community that consultation is taking place through SBC’s website, 

social media and letter drops. 

Informal Consultation 

• In 2021 meetings were held with landowners with sites of significant 

opportunity. 

• 7th February to 21st March 2022 unmanned exhibition through-out the 

consultation period with a series of exhibition boards held in three town centre 

location including The Forum, Sittingbourne Library and Swallows Leisure 

centre before returning to The Forum again. 

• Comments could be made on the council website, by email 

to Lpcomments@swale.gov.uk  or by post to Planning Policy Team at Swale 

House. 

• Due to deadlines, any feedback from the Planning and Transportation Policy 

Working Group will be tabled at the Policy and Resources Committee. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 14

mailto:Lpcomments@swale.gov.uk


7/9/22 Page 5 of 6 

6 Implications 
 

Issue Implications 

Corporate Plan This Local Plan supports the priority of the Council to build the right 
homes in the right places and supporting quality jobs for all. 

Financial, 
Resource and 
Property 

The costs for the production of the SPD can be met from existing 
budgets. 

Legal, Statutory 
and Procurement 

A Council minute confirming the adoption of the SPD will be 
required in order to ratify the document. 

Crime and 
Disorder 

Improvements to Sittingbourne Town Centre, including new 
residential development and new employment opportunities, 
facilitate more people within the town centre which assists with 
crime prevention. 

Environment and 
Climate/Ecological 
Emergency 

The Council has carried out a ‘screening’ of the Sittingbourne Town 
Centre SPD to determine whether a SEA and an assessment under 
the Habitats Regulation Assessment (HRA) is required.  Following 
consultation with the Environment Agency, Historic England and 
Natural England the Council have determined that the SPD does not 
require a SEA or Appropriate Assessment under the Habitats 
Regulations. 
Planning applications will require their own environmental 
assessments on application. 

Health and 
Wellbeing 

None identified at this stage 

Safeguarding of 
Children, Young 
People and 
Vulnerable Adults 

None identified at this stage 

Risk Management 
and Health and 
Safety 

None identified at this stage 

Equality and 
Diversity 

None identified at this stage 

Privacy and Data 
Protection 

None identified at this stage 

 

7 Appendices 
 
7.1 The following documents are to be published with this report and form part of the 

report: 

• Appendix I: Sittingbourne Town Centre, Supplementary Planning Document - 
Statement of Consultation Report, June 2022. 

Page 15



7/9/22 Page 6 of 6 

• Appendix II: Sittingbourne Town Centre, Supplementary Planning Document - 
Strategic Environmental Assessment & Habitat Regulations Assessment 
Screening Report, December 2021. 

• Appendix III: Sittingbourne Town Centre, Final Supplementary Planning 
Document, July 2022.  

 

8 Background Papers 
 
 None  

Page 16



 

 
 
 

 
Sittingbourne Town Centre  

Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
 

 

 

 

Statement of Consultation Report 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

June 2022

Page 17



2 

 

The Sittingbourne Town Centre - Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 

Statement of Consultation Report 
June 2022 

 

Contents 
1. Introduction .................................................................................................................................... 3 

2.     The Supplementary Planning Document Challenges………………………………………………………………...3 

3.     The Supplementary Planning Document Proposals…………………………………………………………………..3 

4.     Statement of Community Involvement adopted 2018……………………………………………………………...3 

5.     Summary of the Consultation Feedback of the SPD………………………………………………………………….5 

        Retail and business………………………………………………………………………………………………………….………….5 

        Public realm, biodiversity and car parking…………………………………………………………………….…………….6 

        Environment…………………………………………………………………………………….…………………….……..……………6 

        Housing………………..…………..……………………………………………………………………………………….……….…..…6 

        Mixed Use…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….……...……7 

        Movement…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….……………7 

       General……………………..………………………………………………………………………………………………….….…….…..8 

6.    Summary of the Changes to the 

SPD……………………………………………………………….……….………..………Error! Bookmark not defined. 

 

 

  

Page 18



3 

 

1. Introduction 

With a view to scope the approaches for the future of Sittingbourne town centre in 2020 the Council 

held a workshop for Councillors. The findings formed the basis of a long-term strategic vision for 

Sittingbourne that meets the needs and aspirations of a broad range of users and stakeholders to 

achieve the ambition to shape a place where people want to live, work and spend their leisure time 

within an active high street.  

 

2. The Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) Challenges 

It is known that our town centres are changing - the way in which we shop, move, socialise and 
interact has changed and will continue to change even more in the wake of Covid-19. Town centres 
therefore need to adapt and reposition themselves in order that they continue to thrive and meet 
the needs of their local communities.  Sittingbourne town centre requires refurbishment, 
regeneration and public realm investment. Like many smaller towns it has struggled in the 
recessionary period, suffering declining sales, footfall and closures.  The Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD) is a proactive plan to transform the place, looking not only to future retail and 
development, but to other uses and activities, that may draw people, enhance prosperity and 
improve the look, role and general feel of the town centre including the needs of businesses, 
landowners, traders and the community. 
 

3. The Supplementary Planning Document Proposals 

The Supplementary Planning Document was developed over 2021 and summarises the drivers for 
change as the follows:  
1. Residential - more residents in and around the Town Centre, 

2. Creative, cultural, social – historic environment, more culture, arts, creativity, health and 
education, 

3. Employment – employment creation and retention, and  

4. Events and activities – events, activities, family use, temporary pop-ups.  
 

The aim was for a highly graphic explanatory document that should excite the community, provide 

guidance and certainty for the stakeholders such as landowners and set a steer with regards 

planning and design policy for the Council’s Development Management role.  

 

4. Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) adopted 2018 

A Supplementary Planning Document has is a formal consultation process as set out in the 

Statement of Community Involvement as follows: 

Page 19



4 

 

 

 

The consultation that took place for the STC included the following: 

Statutory Consultation 

• Online Questionnaire– 6 weeks.  

• Hard copies of questionnaire made available at Libraries (subject to public health 

guidelines). 

Page 20



5 

 

• Specifically contact Statutory Consultees, persons carrying out business and activity in the 

area and resident’s of the town centre – 800 letters were issued advising of the consultation. 

• Contact with journalists and the press. 

• Alert the community that consultation is taking place through SBC’s website, social media 

and letter drops. 

Informal Consultation 

• In 2021 meetings were held with landowners with sites of significant opportunity. 

• 7th February to  21st March 2022 unmanned exhibition through-out the consultation period 

with a series of exhibition boards held in three town centre location including The Forum, 

Sittingbourne Library and Swallows Leisure centre before returning to The Forum again. 

 

    
Exhibition at The Forum  

• Comments could be made on the council website, by email 

to Lpcomments@swale.gov.uk  or by post to Planning Policy Team at Swale House. 

Future Programme 

September 2022 – SPD Consultation report to Planning & Transport Policy Working Group and Policy 

& Resources Committee, and  

Autumn 2022 – adoption of the SPD by Full Council. 

 

5. Summary of the Consultation Feedback of the SPD 

Feedback was received both electronically from members of the community as well as statutory 

consultees. There were twenty-four respondents in total of which three used the portal. The full list 

of consultees and their detailed comments are available to view on the Council’s website. A 

summary of the main points is as follow: 

 

Retail and business 

The feedback on the retail offer in Sittingbourne is polar from recognising that the town should play 

to it’s strengths which lies in budget shopping whilst also having the ambition for “specialty retail” 

and the café culture, flexible working space, improved street market, art galleries, event space and 

Page 21

mailto:Lpcomments@swale.gov.uk


6 

 

night-time economy. However, there is a consistent message to stop empty shops and prevent the 

rate of loss of businesses to out-of-town shopping and neighbouring towns and cities. 

It is suggested that the Council must play a larger role in addressing supply/demand imbalance. 

Incentivise opportunities for retailers to come into the town centre by reducing Business Rates, the 

Council purchasing leases on shops and renting them out according to the retail needs of the town. 

Rodmersham Town Council feedback the following: ”residents constantly tell us they want nice 

cafes, good quality clothing boutiques, specialist shops on their doorstep, shops where local food is 

sold etc. as they no longer want to drive to towns further away we want an attractive town with 

good quality retail.” 

 

Public realm, biodiversity and car parking 

There is large support for overall public realm improvements, ‘greening’, tree planting and a storm 

water drainage strategy through the town centre although there is also scepticism that it can be 

achieved. Particular support is for the provision of street tree planting throughout the Spring Street, 

High Street, St Michael’s Avenue, Avenue of Remembrance, Central Avenue, Eurolink Way and Bell 

Road open space as well as the provision of space for wildflower meadows, wildlife ponds etc. A 

request for clarity over the funding of public realm improvements, such as S106, is required. 

There is concern about the loss of car parking both in the car parks and on-street with some call for 

cheaper or more free car parking. There is particular concern that the loss of free parking on Avenue 

of Remembrance will lead to an increase in parking on Albany Road and Connaught Road for 

example, however, free parking in the town centre should not be an option as there is plenty of well 

priced car parking available in the town centre. Residents request continuation of free public toilet 

access. 

 

Environment 

Better explanation of “climate change and ecological emergency” required. 

 

Housing 

Despite some support for the need for more housing, especially affordable, there is concern that 

more housing will increase the strain on local resources especially roads and medical facilities. More 

hospitals and school needed to cope with the increase and this needs to come before homes are 

built. 

The overall support for more housing in the town centre, to take the pressure off of green field 

development in our countryside, is both as mixed-use schemes and through conversion of upper 

floors of retail but care to be taken so as not to replace retail with residential. 

Town centre living needs to be a good mix of rented/private but also across the budgets including 

high end and also with a good proportion of disabled and elderly accommodation. Key worker 

accommodation should also be provided in the town centres. 

Page 22



7 

 

Sport England is supportive of the objectives of the SPD, however they recommend a further 

objective that enables people to live an active and healthy lifestyle. 

 

Mixed use 

There is mixed support for the new mixed-use development at Bourne Place and for the proposed 

Community Quarter on Central Avenue as well as improvements around The Forum. The scepticism 

relates to the need to get the type of uses right, in the right place with the correct supporting 

infrastructure. For example, a consultee fed back that “the area at the back of Wilkos should be 

made better use of economically and visually”. In addition, encouraging economic activity not just 

food and beverage but late opening shops, art galleries, exhibitions, events etc and encourage 

footfall would make the town centre feel more vibrant and lived in. 

There is support for new health facilities in a range of forms in the town centre from a new hospital, 

to GPs surgery to CCG facilities and so forth. In addition, there is support for new community 

facilities due to the loss of Phoenix House.  Appleyard currently functions as a meeting place for 

community groups but concern is expressed about the role of Applyard as a community centre. 

There is also mixed support, both for and against, for an adult education centre. 

Across the board there is positive support for the promotion of heritage in the town especially for 

it’s role in revitalisation of the town centre.  It really important the SPD reflects the new 

Sittingbourne Conservation Area Character Appraisal 2011 and its new boundaries. A specific 

Heritage and Visitor Centre is requested by some. 

 

Movement 

The largest current complaint regards too much traffic congestion in the town centre with new 

development equated with further grid-lock and bottle-necks in the future as summarised as 

follows: “aspirations for people to walk, cycle or take a bus are laudable but in truth people have 

cars and need to get from one end of town to another”. Specific support for improvements to St 

Michael’s Road, Avenue of Remembrances and Central Avenue and to Eurolink Way must be carried 

out in conjunction involving wider highways strategy for the town involving alternative routes, 

measures to restrict HGVs etc 

However other consultees identify the benefit of improvements to public transport, such as real-

time bus information; provision of good, safe cycle routes particularly with electric cycles; overall 

support for the “20 minute neighbourhood concept” for the town with improvements to pedestrian 

movement especially where crossing the railway and improvements to the alleys provide an 

important pedestrian network as well as having a role in economic regeneration where promoted 

for use by the businesses such as creative industries. 

Concern is expressed that, despite Sittingbourne being an historic town and in need of beautification 

coupled with the Council’s strategy for biodiversity opportunity as an element of the Climate 

Emergency, it should not be at the expense of vehicular access or on-street parking spaces 

facilitating passing trade for retailers on the High Street therefore, the request is to ensure 

continued ability to drive through and park short-term in the High Street. However,  

Page 23



8 

 

National Highways request the Council add National Highways and Kent County Highways as key 

stakeholders. The SRN impacts of an additional 850 dwelling in/around the town centre as part of 

the new Local Plan will need to be assesse 

 

General 

There is an overall majority support expressed for the SPD and the vision set out within the 

document with strong support for the accompanying extensive objectives. However, two 

respondents expressed concern that the plan is ‘divorced from reality’.  

Due to the historic nature of the town and it’s important role within the borough, there is support 

for commitment to high quality design as set out in the document. However, there is a request to be 

more specific with building heights and landmarks with a suggestion of 6-8 storeys and an emphasis 

on how actual building heights can be determined through the DM process. 

To prevent antisocial behaviour a request is made to ensure a visible Police presence (not part-time 

PCSOs). 

Lastly, important planning comments include that a future CIL charge shouldn’t render the aims and 

objectives of the SPD unviable and the SPD will need to coordinate with the emerging Local Plan. 

 

 

Summary of the Changes to the SPD 

The number of changes proposed to the SPD as a result of the consultation is minimal.  A summary 

of the respondent and any resulting changes is as follows: 

Clarification of National Planning Policy Framework reflected in change to text as follows: 

4.1 The NPPF identifies that planning policies should define the extent of town centres and 

the primary shopping area. The only change to the Town Centre Boundary is minor and 

removes residential terraces on Park Road. 

SBC Heritage Officer – Conservation Area now includes East Street. Historic England have good 

relevant reference documents to be referred to. Conservation Area and Listed Buildings plan to be 

updated to reflect new Conservation Area. Text changes as follows: 

9.3 The Conservation Area has been extended to include East Street.  

9.4 The documents “Places Strategy” 2019 HE - Places Strategy (historicengland.org.uk  and 

“Streets for All” 2018 https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/streets-for-

all/heag149-sfa-national/ both by Historic England have been prepared in accordance with 

the Historic England ‘Place making Strategy Brief’ (Dec 2017) and ‘Place making Strategy 

Project Design’ 2018)and with reference to the ‘Wellbeing and the Historic Environment’ 

report 2018 providing a wealth of useful guidance with examples of good design. 

Cllr Rowles – new wording regarding No 34 High Street to reflect cultural activities undertaken under 

the new lease by Swale Media Arts Centre CIC. Text changes as follows: 

Page 24

https://historicengland.org.uk/content/docs/planning/he-places-strategy-2019/
https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/streets-for-all/heag149-sfa-national/
https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/streets-for-all/heag149-sfa-national/


9 

 

19.5 Sittingbourne has cultural facilities within the town centre including the Avenue 

Theatre on Central Avenue, the heritage centre within the Forum, a local museum on East 

Street and the cultural centre No.34 The High Street. Further investigation into future 

opportunities for cultural facilities is required building on existing town centre facilities and 

the new Dolphin Barge Museum on the Creek. 

Development Management Officers - Clarification of the building height policy requested. Text 

changes as follows: 

31.1 Bullet 2. Medium height buildings will be accommodated to the north and south of the 

town centre and around Central Avenue. Appropriate heights are likely to be between four 

and six storeys.  

31.1 Additional bullet 6.  Applications will include a 3-D massing and building height study to 

explain and justify the building heights in the context of the submission site, the existing 

built form and any other submissions within the town centre within the public arena such as 

Planning Applications and Swale Rainbow Homes Ltd data. 

Active Travel Officer – Use of the High Street by vehicles, bicycles and pedestrians. Text changes as 

follows: 

33.1. Add the following additional text: In the future further review and consultation of 

closing the High Street to vehicular traffic at different times of the day and evening will be 

undertaken. 

Network Rail – include proposals for some form of footbridge from north Sittingbourne to the 

railway station. Text changes as follows: 

33.2 Bullet 5. A particular challenge is the pedestrian and cycle connectivity to the town 

centre and railway station to and from the north via Crown Quay Lane and Milton Road as 

the railway line is a barrier to movement. To facilitate better use of the railway station by 

residents from the new residential developments in the north and by people accessing 

Eurolink, Ridham and Kemsley for employment Network Rail are planning improvements to 

pedestrian and cycle movement below the railway line bridges and provision of a pedestrian 

footbridge over the railway line from the north to better access the railway station. Similarly, 

to St Michael’s Road, Eurolink Way will be more pedestrian and cycle friendly with new tree-

lined, wider provision to encourage people to walk in the north of the railway line. 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
 

 
Draft Sittingbourne Town Centre  

Supplementary Planning Document 
 

 

Strategic Environmental Assessment  
&  

Habitat Regulations Assessment  
 

Screening Report 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

December 2021

Page 27



 
 

Contents 
1. Introduction ........................................................................................................................................................ 1 

Purpose of Report ................................................................................................................................................... 1 

2. Legislative Background ....................................................................................................................................... 1 

Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) ........................................................................................................... 1 

Habitat Regulation Assessment (HRA) ................................................................................................................... 2 

3. Swale Local Plan .................................................................................................................................................. 2 

4. Town Centre SPD ................................................................................................................................................ 2 

5. SEA Assessment .................................................................................................................................................. 3 

Assessment ......................................................................................................................................................... 3 

Screening Outcome ................................................................................................................................................. 8 

6. HRA Screening ..................................................................................................................................................... 8 

Screening Outcome ................................................................................................................................................. 8 

7. Determination ..................................................................................................................................................... 8 

Appendix 1: Policy ST5 of the adopted Swale Local Plan (2017) ............................................................................... 10 

Appendix 2: SPD Area ................................................................................................................................................ 11 

Appendix 3: Statutory Body Responses .................................................................................................................... 12 

 

Page 28



Strategic Environmental Assessment & Habitat Regulations Assessment 
Screening Report for Draft Sittingbourne Town Centre  

Supplementary Planning Document 
 

 

1 
 

1. Introduction 

Purpose of Report 
1.1. Swale Borough Council (SBC) are in the process of preparing a draft Sittingbourne Town Centre 

Supplementary Planning Document (SPD). 

 
1.2. The purpose of the SPD is to provide additional advice and guidance on the implementation of Policy ST5 

(The Sittingbourne area strategy) of the Swale Local Plan (Bearing Fruits 2031) (SLP) as it applies to 

Sittingbourne town centre.  The SPD does not allocate sites or set policy.    

 
1.3. The purpose of the screening report is to determine whether or not the SPD requires a Strategic 

Environmental Assessment (SEA) in accordance with the European Directive 2001/42/EC and associated 

Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004.   

 
1.4. The report will also screen whether the SPD requires a Habitat Regulations Assessment (HRA).  A HRA is 

required if it is deemed that likely adverse significant effects may occur on protected European Sites (also 

known as Natura 2000 sites and Habitats Sites1), as a result of the implementation of a plan or project.   

2. Legislative Background 

Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) 
2.1. The basis for Strategic Environmental Assessments and Sustainability Appraisal legislation is European 

Directive 2001/42/EC and was transposed into English law by the Environmental Assessment of Plans and 

Programmes Regulations 2004, or SEA Regulations2.  Detailed guidance of these regulations can be found 

in the Government publication ‘A Practical Guide to the Strategic Environmental Assessment Directive’ 

(ODPM 2005)3. 

 
2.2. Section 19 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires local planning authorities to carry 

out a sustainability appraisal (SA) for any documents that can form part of a local plan.  It is considered best 

practice for the SA to incorporate the requirements of the SEA.  There is no legal requirement for an SPD 

to have a SA; this is reflected in the Planning Practice Guidance4.   

 

2.3. However, the PPG goes on to state5 that a SEA may in exceptional circumstances be required where an SPD 

is likely to have significant environmental effects that have not already been assessed during the 

preparation of a Local Plan.  In addition, the PPG states that a SEA is unlikely to be required where an SPD 

deals only with a small area at local level, unless it is considered that there are likely to be significant 

environmental effects. 

 

2.4. The Town Centre SPD sets out design and heritage considerations within a specific area at a local level 

identified in the SLP.  The Council must, therefore, determine whether the SPD is likely to have significant 

environmental effects that have not already been assessed during the preparation of the Local Plan.  This 

 
1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), 2021 
2 The UK left the EU on 31st January 2020.  The SEA Regulations, which previously implemented the requirements of the SEA Directive in 
England, will continue to apply as before unless and until new legislation is introduced. 
3 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/7657/practicalguidesea.pdf 
4 Paragraph: 005 Reference ID: 11-005-20190722 Planning Practice Guidance (Strategic environmental assessment and sustainability 
appraisal), revised 22 07 19 
5 Paragraph: 008 Reference ID: 11-008-20140306 Planning Practice Guidance (Strategic environmental assessment and sustainability 
appraisal), revised 06 03 2014 Page 29

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/7657/practicalguidesea.pdf


Strategic Environmental Assessment & Habitat Regulations Assessment 
Screening Report for Draft Sittingbourne Town Centre  

Supplementary Planning Document 
 

 

2 

 

is done through a screening assessment.  If the screening assessment indicates that there could be 

significant effects, an SEA is needed. 

 
Habitat Regulation Assessment (HRA) 

2.5. The need for an HRA is set out in articles 6(3) and 6(4) of the EU Habitats Directive and by regulation 63 of 

the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), which require that any plan or 

project likely to have a significant effect upon the integrity of a European site (Special Area of Conservation, 

Special Protection Area or Ramsar Site) must be subject to an appropriate assessment.   

 
3. Swale Local Plan 

3.1. The SLP was adopted in July 2017.  The SLP seeks to support the regeneration and environmental 

enhancement of central Sittingbourne with a focus on the town centre with Policy ST5 (The Sittingbourne 

area strategy) providing the policy framework to achieve this.  The wording of the policy can be found at 

Appendix 1.   

 

3.2. The SLP was subject to a full Sustainability Appraisal, which included SEA assessment, and an HRA was also 

undertaken6.  Where appropriate these documents are referenced in the assessment of likely significant 

effects. 

 

3.3. The Local Plan is currently being reviewed.  The emerging Local Plan (LPR) is seeking to continue the current 

policy approach of promoting the regeneration of the town centre (Policy Regen 2 – Sittingbourne Town 

Centre).  A pre-submission version of the Plan was published for consultation under Regulation 19 in 

February 2021, which was subject to SEA and HRA assessment7.  Although the Council have decided not to 

proceed with this version of the Local Plan it nevertheless shows the direction of travel in respect of the 

policy approach to Sittingbourne Town Centre.   Where appropriate, the LPR SEA and HRA are referenced 

in the assessment of likely significant effects.  Following the adoption of the LPR, the SPD will need to be 

reviewed to ensure it remains consistent with the new Plan and effectively supplements relevant policies.   

 

4. Town Centre SPD 

4.1. The Sittingbourne Town Centre SPD provides a design led approach to regeneration, setting out additional 

guidance and principles of development, including the design principles that would apply on an individual 

site/area basis, and identifies opportunity areas for environmental enhancement within the town centre 

boundary.   

 
4.2. The SPD is structured as follows: 

• Introduction – outlines the purpose of the SPD, planning context and the issues to be addressed in 

the area covered by the SPD 

• Vision and objectives – outlines a vision and objectives for Sittingbourne Town Centre 

• Key development principles /zones – outlines development principles in respect of land uses, 

frontages, building height, gateways/hubs, movement, parking, public realm, green spaces, design 

 
6 https://swale.gov.uk/planning-and-regeneration/local-plans/adopted-local-plan-for-swale 
7 https://swale.gov.uk/planning-and-regeneration/local-plans/local-plan-review/public-consultation#h2 

Page 30

https://swale.gov.uk/planning-and-regeneration/local-plans/adopted-local-plan-for-swale
https://swale.gov.uk/planning-and-regeneration/local-plans/local-plan-review/public-consultation#h2


Strategic Environmental Assessment & Habitat Regulations Assessment 
Screening Report for Draft Sittingbourne Town Centre  

Supplementary Planning Document 
 

 

3 

 

quality and the urban design requirements for five zones within the town centre that offer the 

opportunity for significant improvements to be achieved 

• Implementation, delivery and funding 

 
4.3. The SPD will be of particular use to landowners, developers, occupiers and others looking to bring forward 

development proposals or undertake improvements within the area covered by the SPD as a framework 

against which to judge the suitability of proposals and the standards of design expected. 

   
4.4. The SPD largely covers the Sittingbourne Town Centre as defined in the SLP but has slightly amended 

boundaries to include immediately adjoining areas.  This is to enable a more comprehensive approach to 

the opportunities for enhancement in these areas.  The area covered by the SPD is shown in Appendix 2.   

 

5. SEA Assessment 

Assessment 

5.1. The diagram in Figure 1 illustrates the process for screening a planning document to ascertain whether a 

full SEA is required.  

 

 

Figure 1: Application of the SEA Directive to Plans and Programmes 

Page 31



Strategic Environmental Assessment & Habitat Regulations Assessment 
Screening Report for Draft Sittingbourne Town Centre  

Supplementary Planning Document 
 

 

4 

 

5.2. Table 1 shows the assessment of whether the SPD will require a full SEA.  The questions below are drawn 

from the diagram in Figure 1 which sets out how the SEA Directive should be applied. 

 

Stage Y/N Reason 

1. Is the PP (plan or programme) subject to 
preparation and/or adoption by a 
national, regional or local authority OR 
prepared by an authority for adoption 
through a legislative procedure by 
Parliament or Government? (Art.2(a)) 

Y The Town Centre SPD will be prepared and adopted 
by Swale Borough Council.  The preparation of the 
SPD will be in accordance with the Town and 
Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 
Regulations 2012 (as amended).     

2. Is the PP required by legislative, 
regulatory or administrative provisions? 
(Art. 2(a)) 

 

N The preparation of an SPD is optional; there is no 
legislative, regulatory or administrative 
requirements to prepare an SPD.  However, once 
adopted it will supplement Policy ST5 in the SLP and 
will be a material consideration in planning 
decisions.  Therefore, it is considered necessary to 
answer the following questions to determine 
whether the SPD is likely to have significant 
environmental effects and whether an SEA is 
required. 

3. Is the PP prepared for agriculture, 
forestry, fisheries, energy, industry, 
transport, waste management, water 
management, telecommunications, 
tourism, town and country planning or 
land use, AND does it set a framework for 
future development consent of projects 
in Annexes I and II to the EIA Directive? 
(Art 3.2(a)) 

Y The SPD is prepared for town and country planning 
purposes.  It supplements SLP Policy ST5 by 
providing more detailed guidance on how this policy 
will be implemented. 

4. Will the PP, in view of its likely effect on 
sites, require an assessment for future 
development under Article 6 or 7 of the 
Habitats Directive? (Art 3.2(b)) 

N A separate HRA screening assessment has been 
undertaken and can be found in Section 6 of this 
report. 

5. Does the PP determine the use of small 
areas at local level, OR is it a minor 
modification of a PP subject to Art 3.2? 
(Art 3.3) 

Y The SPD will be a material consideration in 
determining planning applications within the area 
covered by the SPD, supporting the SLP through the 
provision of more detailed guidance. 

6. Does the PP set the framework for future 
development consent of projects (not 
just projects in Annexes to the EIA 
Directive)? (Art 3.4) 

N The framework for future developments is provided 
through the SLP (or as reviewed through the LPR), 
not the SPD. 

7. Is the PP’s sole purpose to serve the 
national defence or civil emergency, OR 
is it a financial or budget PP, OR is it co-
financed by structural funds or EAGGF 
programmes 2000 to 2006/7? (Art 3.8, 
3.9) 

N The SPD does not deal with these issues. 

8. Is it likely to have a significant effect on 
the environment? (Art 3.5) 

N The assessment of likely significant effects are 
considered in more detail in Table 2 

 

5.3. Criteria for determining the likely significance of effects referred to in Article 3(5) of Directive 2001/42/EC 
are set out below.  

Page 32



Strategic Environmental Assessment & Habitat Regulations Assessment 
Screening Report for Draft Sittingbourne Town Centre  

Supplementary Planning Document 
 

 

5 

 

 

 
 

5.4. Table 2 below looks at the likelihood for the SPD to have significant effects on the environment. 
 

1. Characteristics of the plans and 
programmes, having regard, in particular 
to: 

Is there a 
significant 
environmental 
impact? 
Y/N 

Justification 

1a The degree to which the plan or 
programme sets a framework for 
projects and other activities, either with 
regard to the location, nature, size and 
operating conditions or by allocating 
resources 

N The SPD will help implement Policy ST5 
of the SLP, which provides the 
overarching framework for development 
in Swale through the provision of 
additional guidance.  The SDP does not 
itself allocate resources, but it will help 
secure resources for the delivery of 
development and enhancement 
proposals within Sittingbourne Town 
Centre.  The SLP has been subject to SEA 
as a matter of course. 

1b The degree to which the plan or 
programme influences other plans and 
programmes including those in a 
hierarchy 

N An SPD is the lowest tier of local 
development documents, which does 
not influence other plans and 
programmes.  Rather it supports the 
implementation of policies of the higher 
tier plan, the SLP.  It is not, therefore, 
considered that the Sittingbourne Town 
Centre SPD will influence other plans and 
programmes. 

Page 33



Strategic Environmental Assessment & Habitat Regulations Assessment 
Screening Report for Draft Sittingbourne Town Centre  

Supplementary Planning Document 
 

 

6 

 

1. Characteristics of the plans and 
programmes, having regard, in particular 
to: 

Is there a 
significant 
environmental 
impact? 
Y/N 

Justification 

1c The relevance of the plan or programme 
for the integration of environmental 
considerations in particular with a view 
to promoting sustainable development 
 
 

N The SPD is designed to have a positive 
effect by providing more detail and 
guidance to support policies within the 
SLP.  The SPD identifies the opportunities 
for environmental enhancement with 
the Town Centre and provides guidance 
on improving the public realm, greening 
public spaces and provision of new green 
spaces and encouraging active travel 
within the Town Centre     
 
The SEA of the SLP identified positive 
effects on the environment in relation to 
the SPD ‘parent’ Policy ST5.   

1d Environmental problems relevant to the 
plan or programme 

N The SPD will not introduce or exacerbate 
any environmental problems.  It has the 
potential to have a positive impact 
through enabling well designed 
development and identifying 
opportunities for environmental 
enhancements. 

1e The relevance of the plan or programme 
for the implementation of [European] 
Community legislation on the 
environment (for example, plans and 
programmes linked to waste 
management or water protection) 

N The SPD is not directly relevant to the 
implementation of European 
Community legislation on the 
environment.  It does, however, support 
the implementation of a higher plan at a 
local level and the SLP has had regard to 
such legislation. 
 

 
2. Characteristics of the effects and of the 

area likely to be affected, having regard, in 
particular to: 

Is there a likely 
significant 
environmental 
impact? 
Y/N 

Justification 

2a The probability, duration, frequency and 
reversibility of the effects 
 
 

N The SPD is anticipated to have positive 
long term effects by providing additional 
design guidance to supplement the 
policies of the SLP.   

2b The cumulative nature of the effects 
 
 

N As the SLP SEA expects overall positive 
impacts to arise from Policy ST5 to which 
the SPD relates, cumulative effects 
within the SPD area are anticipated to be 
beneficial.   

2c The trans-boundary nature of the effects N As the SPD is related to a specific 
boundary within the borough, it is not 
expected that any cross-boundary 
impacts will arise.  

Page 34



Strategic Environmental Assessment & Habitat Regulations Assessment 
Screening Report for Draft Sittingbourne Town Centre  

Supplementary Planning Document 
 

 

7 

 

2. Characteristics of the effects and of the 
area likely to be affected, having regard, in 
particular to: 

Is there a likely 
significant 
environmental 
impact? 
Y/N 

Justification 

2d The risk to human health or the 
environment (for example, due to 
accidents) 

N It is not envisaged that there will be any 
risks to human health or the 
environment arising from the 
implementation of this SPD, rather it 
seeks to lead to improvements in these 
areas, for example through the provision 
of guidance on greening of public spaces 
and measures to support active travel. 

2e The magnitude and spatial extent of the 
effects (geographical area and size of the 
population likely to be affected) 
 
 

N As the SPD is applicable only to the 
defined area the effects will be felt at a 
local scale.  The SPD will directly benefit 
residents, businesses and visitors to the 
Town Centre through supporting town 
centre and improvements in 
environmental quality. 

2f The value and vulnerability of the area 
likely to be affected due to: 
i) Special natural characteristics or 

cultural heritage; 
ii) Exceeded environmental quality 

standards or limit values; 
iii) Intensive land use 
 
 
 
 

N There are a number of heritage assets 
within Sittingbourne Town Centre.  The 
SPD supports the implementation of SLP 
Policy ST5 and will not be able to set 
policy related to specific land uses.  The 
SLP SEA noted that the implementation 
of Policy ST5 was not expected to result 
in adverse effects. 
 
In terms of biodiversity, the SLP HRA 
noted that Policy ST5 did not have direct 
HRA implications, other than the 
possible general contribution to 
recreational activity in the North Kent 
European sites applicable to all new 
housing within 6km. 
 
In common with all new residential 
development within 6km of the SPA, any 
housing development within the area 
covered by the SPD would be required to 
make a SAMMS contribution (Policy CP7 
of the SLP).   
 
The HRA of the emerging LPR noted that 
Policy Regen 2 had no HRA implications 
as no linking impact pathways were 
present. 

2g The effects on areas or landscapes which 
have a recognised national, community 
or international protection status 

N None identified. Any applications for 
development will be required to satisfy 
the relevant policies for protection of the 
character of the area before permission 
is granted.  

 

Page 35



Strategic Environmental Assessment & Habitat Regulations Assessment 
Screening Report for Draft Sittingbourne Town Centre  

Supplementary Planning Document 
 

 

8 

 

Screening Outcome 

5.5. The policy that the SPD will supplement in the SLP has been subject to SEA/SA, which concluded that there 
will be no significant environmental effects.  The SEA/SA concluded that positive impacts could be expected 
for social and economic objectives and that neutral or positive impacts could be expected for 
environmental objectives: the exception was biodiversity where the effects were unclear.  As the SPD is 
not setting new policy or allocating sites but only supplementing and providing further guidance to support 
the implementation of existing policies, it is considered that the conclusions of the SLP SEA/SA remain 
relevant. 
 

5.6. On the basis of the assessments set out in Table 1 and Table 2 and taking into account the SEA/SA 
undertaken at a higher level, it is concluded that the Sittingbourne Town Centre SPD is unlikely to have any 
significant effects on the environment and a full SEA is not required. 
 

6. HRA Screening 

6.1. The SLP has been subject to HRA, assessing all the policies in the Plan.  The HRA assessed a variety of impact 
pathways linking the SLP to internationally designated sites.  The HRA found that in respect of ST5 
(Sittingbourne Area Strategy) there was the potential for residential development to contribute to 
recreational activity in the North Kent European sites and have a significant effect on the sites as a result 
of increased recreational disturbance.  
 

6.2. In accordance with the Bird Wise North Kent Mitigation Strategy8 residential development within 6km of 
the North Kent Bird sites, which includes the Swale SPA, could result in an adverse effect on the integrity 
of the site as a result of increased recreational pressure.  As such, to ensure no adverse effects on the 
integrity of the designated site occurs, all residential development (where there is a net increase in 
dwellings) within 6km of the SPA will be required to make a financial contribution to the Strategic Access 
Management and Monitoring Strategy (SAMMS).  The requirement for SAMMS contributions is set out in 
Policy CP7 of the SLP.  In the event a financial contribution to SAMMS is not made or it is demonstrated 
how different bespoke mitigation can adequately reduce any likely significant effects, then any planning 
applications would be refused. 
 
Screening Outcome 

6.3. The SPD has been prepared to provide additional guidance to support the implementation of existing SLP 
policies within Sittingbourne Town Centre setting out design and other qualitative criteria; it does not 
present new policies or development allocations.  As the ‘parent’ policy has already been assessed in the 
SLP HRA and having regard to the scope of the SPD, it is considered that the guidance contained in the 
Sittingbourne Town Centre SPD is not likely to have any significant effects on European Sites and, therefore, 
appropriate assessment is not required. 
 

7. Determination 

7.1. Before the Council made a formal determination, there is a requirement to consult the three statutory 
consultation bodies designated in the regulations: Historic England, Environment Agency and Natural 
England. 
 

7.2. Consultation on the Screening Report was carried out with the three bodies in November 2021. The three 
consultation bodies agreed with the conclusions of the Screening Report.  The consultation responses 
received are provided in Appendix 3. 
 

 
8 https://birdwise.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/Mitigation-Strategy.pdf 

Page 36

https://birdwise.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/Mitigation-Strategy.pdf


Strategic Environmental Assessment & Habitat Regulations Assessment 
Screening Report for Draft Sittingbourne Town Centre  

Supplementary Planning Document 
 

 

9 

 

7.3. Swale Borough Council are of the opinion, therefore, that an environmental assessment of the 
Sittingbourne Town Centre SPD is not required as it is unlikely to have significant environmental effects. 
 

7.4. It is also the Council’s opinion that a full Habitats Regulations Appropriate Assessment is not required, as 
the Sittingbourne Town Centre SPD is unlikely to have a significant effect on any designated sites. 
 

7.5. This determination is made on the 16th December 2021. 
 

 

  

Page 37



Strategic Environmental Assessment & Habitat Regulations Assessment 
Screening Report for Draft Sittingbourne Town Centre  

Supplementary Planning Document 
 

 

10 

 

Appendix 1: Policy ST5 of the adopted Swale Local Plan (2017) 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Page 38



Strategic Environmental Assessment & Habitat Regulations Assessment 
Screening Report for Draft Sittingbourne Town Centre  

Supplementary Planning Document 
 

 

11 
 

Appendix 2: SPD Area 
 

 

 

 

  

Page 39



Strategic Environmental Assessment & Habitat Regulations Assessment 
Screening Report for Draft Sittingbourne Town Centre  

Supplementary Planning Document 
 

 

12 

 

Appendix 3: Statutory Body Responses 
 

Consultation 
Body 

Consultation Response 

Natural England 
(dated 08/12/21) 

Summary of Natural England’s Advice  
NO OBJECTION  
Based on the plans submitted, Natural England considers that the proposed 
supplementary planning document (SPD) will not have significant adverse impacts on 
designated sites and has no objection.  
 
Natural England’s further advice on designated sites/landscapes and advice on other 
natural environment issues is set out below.  
 

Additional Information  
Strategic Environmental Appraisal  
Planning Practice Guidance sets out that supplementary planning documents do not 
require a sustainability appraisal. But may in exceptional circumstances require a 
strategic environmental assessment if they are likely to have significant environmental 
effects that have not already been assessed during the preparation of the relevant 
strategic policies. 
 
Natural England note that the SPD provides further guidance relating to adopted Swale 
Local Plan Policy ST5. It is explained in Swale Borough Council’s assessment that, as the 
SPD is not setting new policy or allocating sites but only supplementing and providing 
further guidance to support the implementation of existing policies, it can be screened 
from further assessment. Natural England concurs with this view that the Sittingbourne 
Town Centre SPD is unlikely to have any significant effects on the environment and a 
full SEA is not required. 
 
Habitat Regulations Assessment  
Natural England notes that Swale Borough Council, as competent authority under the 
provision of the Habitats Regulations, have through this draft Screening Report, 
screened whether the SPD requires a Habitat Regulations Assessment (HRA). A HRA is 
required if it is deemed that likely adverse significant effects may occur on protected 
European Sites as a result of the implementation of a plan or project.  
 
The draft Screening Report sets out that the adopted Swale Local Plan was subject to a 
Habitats Regulation Assessment which assessed all the policies in the adopted Plan.  
 
Natural England notes that the SPD does not allocate sites or set polices, but instead 
provides additional advice and guidance on the implementation of Policy ST5 (The 
Sittingbourne area strategy) of the adopted Swale Local Plan (Bearing Fruits 2031) 
adopted on 26 July 2017.  
 
Your authorities assessment concludes that the SPD can be screened out from further 
stages of assessment because significant effects are unlikely to occur, either alone or in 
combination. On the basis of the information provided, Natural England concur with 
Swale Borough Council’s assessment that the guidance contained in the SPD is not 

Page 40



Strategic Environmental Assessment & Habitat Regulations Assessment 
Screening Report for Draft Sittingbourne Town Centre  

Supplementary Planning Document 
 

 

13 

 

likely to have any significant effects on European Sites and that, therefore, an 
appropriate assessment is not required. 
 
Final Comments  
Should the proposal change, please consult us again. 
 

 

Historic England 
(dated 14/12/21) 

In light of the Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programme Regulations 2004, our 
view is that a SEA is not required in this instance for the reason set out in paragraph 5.6 of 
the Screening Report. 
 

Environment 
Agency 
(dated 16/12/21) 

We concur with the conclusions of the Screening Report. 
 

 

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank



The Sittingbourne Town 
Centre Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD)

Swale Borough Council  September 2022Page 43

AlisonP
Sticky Note



SECTION          PAGE

1 Introduction          3 
 2 The Process          4 
17 Sittingbourne Town Centre Vision      20
 18 Objectives for Retail         21 
 19 Objectives for Culture, Food & Beverage and Leisure     23 
 20 Objectives for Public Space, Physical Environment and Heritage   24 
 21 Objectives Economy including Creative Economy     25 
 23 Objectives for Community Infrastructure       27 
 24 Objectives for Town Centre Living       28 
25 Spatial Strategy  30 
 26 Retail, F&B, leisure and social infrastructure policy     31 
 27 Residential policy         33 
 28 Employment policy         33 
 29 Alleys policy          34
 30 Perimeter blocks and active frontage       34 
 31 Building height          35
 32 Gateways, hubs and landmarks        36
 33 Walking, cycling          37
 34 Public transport          38
 35 Parking and servicing         39
 36 Public realm          40
 37 New green spaces         42
 38 Design quality – architectural standards       42
 39 Respect Heritage         43
 41 Sustainability          45
Districts  45 
 42 High Street and West Street        45
 43 East Street, Bell Road and Crown Quay Lane      48
 44 Central Avenue and Avenue of Remembrance      51
 45 St Michael’s Road and Bourne Place       54
 46 Eurolink Way          58
47 Delivery           59
 48 Funding           60

Contents

Produced by Swale Borough Council, January 2022
Page 44



3

1.   Introduction

1.1 The pandemic has forced the adoption of new ways of living and working which will impact 
how Swale’s towns look and operate in the future. The impact will be felt in new homes 
that are planned for the Borough and across all work sectors from distribution centres to 
offices, from retail to local small businesses and at home. Coupled with climate change this 
presents an opportunity for Swale to respond positively to the challenges and secure the 
long-term future of the Borough. 

“The COVID-19 pandemic has led to an acceleration of changes to the reasons people visit and 
use high streets. Data for November 2020 shows that footfall is at 45 percent compared to the 
same period last year. Before the pandemic, footfall had dropped over 10 per cent in the last 7 
years. Internet sales had risen to 21 per cent of all retail sales at the end of 2019 compared to 7 
per cent a decade earlier, and during the height of the national lockdown period in May this had 
jumped to nearly 33 per cent of all retail sales.” Source https://www.local.gov.uk/parliament/briefings-and-
responses/future-high-street-house-commons-10-december-2020)

1.2  Towns centres were already under pressure from competition from online retailing and out-
of-town shopping centres and Sittingbourne, with its historic core dating back to the twelfth 
century, is learning to adapt. Change in Sittingbourne Town Centre is already underway 
with investment by local businesses in new food and beverage outlets, new small scale 
residential schemes and the introduction of new a new leisure quarter, Bourne Place, which 
has led to new public realm at Sittingbourne railway centre. Surrounding the town centre 
new large residential communities are opening along Eurolink Way and Mill Way increasing 
the number of people in close proximity to the High Street and new recreation and cultural 
facilities Dolphin Sailing Barge Museum and The Mill Skate Park in walking distance from 
the High Street. 

1.3  New ways of working and shopping are predicted for the future with the emphasis being on 
adaptations which embrace flexibility and social interaction. There is a need for a proactive 
plan to transform the place, looking not only to future retail and development, but to other 
uses and activities, that may draw people, enhance prosperity and improve the look, role 
and general feel of the town centre.

1.4  A recent study undertaken by Historic England about how the COVID-19 pandemic has 
impacted our social lives includes our access to and engagement with our precious heritage 
and it has found that ‘historic places convey a sense of uniqueness and awe and are strong 
emotional pillars connecting communities… heritage can also improve personal wellbeing, 
by helping us understand our past, our individual and communal identity and help us 
connect with the places where we live’. Managing heritage significance of the high street, so 
that it becomes a place for people to be proud of and want to visit, the heritage sector has 
an important role to play in our individual mental wellbeing in the future as well as on the 
economy of the town centre. 

Page 45



4

2. Process

2.1  In Spring 2020 a visioning workshop was held with Councillors to brainstorm the future 
for Sittingbourne town centre. Using scenario planning as an aid to discussion, the group 
identified a broad direction and series of priority themes and actions which become the 
starting point for the Supplementary Planning Document for the town centre as follows:

• Greater diversity of use in and around the town centre over time 
• More housing of a well-designed, and affordable type 
• Encouragement of diverse shops and characterful shopfronts 
• A greater emphasis on role of culture, events and creativity, both in uses, but also promotion 

of the town centre. 
• Better links (particularly by walking and cycle) to/from the surrounding neighbourhoods on 

both sides of railway as well as strengthening of these locations. 
• Better signing and wayfinding for locals, and also visitors 
• Exploring the role of heritage in promoting Sittingbourne town centre’s identity, design and 

visitor experience 
• More street use and temporary activity, especially to bring people back to the town centre 

after COVID-19 lockdown, but also beyond that 
• Appropriate new developments on gap sites to bring new activity, but also create a stronger 

sense of street. 
• New employment, workspace and studios, including as positive local option for people who 

may normally commute five days a week. 
• Greening and planting in key streets and spaces, including performing a SUDS, water 

management role.

2.2  The findings from the workshop contributed to the development of a long-term strategic 
vision for Sittingbourne that meets the needs and aspirations of a broad range of users and 
stakeholders and achieve the ambition to shape a place where people want to live, work 
and spend their leisure time within an active high street.

 
Sittingbourne High Street

Page 46



5

3. Aim of the SPD

3.1  The Sittingbourne Town Centre Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) will shape and 
guide regeneration and heritage in the town centre over the next 10-15 years. The focus 
is to create places that people want to visit and linger, places that encourage transactions 
and positive interactions throughout the day and night and which therefore contribute to the 
vitality and viability of Sittingbourne. The SPD will guide regeneration in a way that:

• respects the heritage and culture of Sittingbourne;
• introduces a wider range of land uses and activity;
• enables walking, cycling and inclusive access throughout the area;
• strengthens local communities;
• responds positively to the challenges of climate change;
• within an integrated landscape strategy, introduces green spaces and trees; and
• creates opportunities for private and public sector investment.
• The SPD benefits from a design led approach to regeneration which aims to facilitate 

dramatic and beneficial change in the appearance and range of facilities of the town centre.

4. Site boundary

4.1 The NPPF identifies that planning policies should define the extent of town centres and 
the primary shopping area. The only change to the Town Centre Boundary is minor and 
removes residential terraces on Park Road.

Sittingbourne Town Centre boundary with proposed amendments to be carried forward through 
the Local Plan Review

Existing Town Centre Boundary
Proposed change to the Town 
Centre Boundary (Retail and Leisure 
Needs Assessment, 2018, WYG) 

Page 47



6

Sittingbourne Town Centre - boundarySittingbourne Town Centre boundary for the SPD

4.2  It is important to stress the value of linkages and gateways to the areas immediately 
surrounding the town centre as follow:

• To the north - Milton Creek recreation area including Dolphin Sailing Barge Museum, The 
Mill Skate Park, Sittingbourne and Kemsley Light Railway, and Milton Country Park as well 
as Eurolink

• To the south – Borden Grammar School, Albany Park, Sittingbourne Cemetery, Appleyard 
and Sittingbourne Memorial Hospital.

Page 48



7

Eurolink

Milton Creek

Albany Park

Core town centre
• The town centre boundary 

includes the core High 
Street area as well as key 
areas serving and 
connecting with the High 
Street including:

• Central Avenue
• St Michael’s Road/A2
• Eurolink

• Linkages and gateways 
which connect beyond the 
town centre are also 
important including:

• Milton Creek 
• Albany Park
• Eurolink

The immediate context of Sittingbourne Town Centre

4.3  Recent development includes foodstores and a drive-in coffee shop directly north of the 
railway station, a new multi-storey car park (MSCP) on St Michael’s Road, the new leisure 
facilities including cinema and bowling, hotel and restaurants in Bourne Place opposite the 
railway station and a large residential development on Eurolink Way. A number of smaller 
scale developments in the High Street itself and in the wider town centre are welcome 
additions to the place.

4.4  The railway station setting and public realm has undergone extensive improvement with 
new bus stop in close proximity; these assist with providing easy connections to the High 
Street. The railway line and Eurolink Way form significant barriers for pedestrian and cycle 
movement north south. The narrow footpaths under the two railway bridges are a particular 
challenge limiting pedestrian access to the important leisure and work facilities and new 
residential developments in the north. 

4.5  The appearance of land behind the High Street in the town centre is generally poor, with 
unattractive views of commercial premises and service roads, whilst the centre as a whole 
is characterised by large areas of surface car parking which are poorly maintained in some 
cases and underused especially after business hours. They represent a poor use of space 
and also detract from the environment and amenity of the town.

Page 49



8

5. Planning context

5.1  The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF para 86) requires planning policies for town 
centres to take a positive approach to their growth, management and adaptation allowing for 
flexible mixed-use characterful places.

5.2  Swale’s adopted local plan, Bearing Fruits, contains a suite of policies and proposals to 
support and deliver sustainable development.  Policy ST 5 The Sittingbourne area strategy 
sets out the broad objectives for Sittingbourne town centre.  This includes the need to 
ensure the vitality and viability of the town centre by creating and enhancing the range of 
shops, leisure facilities and public, commercial and voluntary services needed to enable 
retention of local spending by both the existing and new residents in and around the town 
centre.

5.3  As part of this approach, the Council has already brought greater flexibility to the 
consideration of uses at the outer edges of the primary shopping area frontages and in the 
secondary shopping area frontage to take advantage of opportunities that may arise during 
these times of economic difficult and uncertainty.  Policy DM 1 Maintaining and enhancing 
the vitality and viability of town centres and other areas and Policy DM 2 Proposals for main 
town centre uses set out the broad strategy for town centre development.  The policies and 
proposals in this SPD provide an amplification of those ‘parent’ policies, providing more 
detail of what development is expected to deliver in terms of quality design that respects our 
heritage assets, supports vitality and viability and maximises opportunities for the Council 
and the market to respond positively to challenges.

5.4  Work has commenced on the Local Plan Review as required by NPPF para33. Given 
the opportunities that exist within the Sittingbourne town centre area, it is right to identify 
Sittingbourne town centre as the location for a major programme of regeneration that would 
see the delivery of approximately 850 additional dwellings in the town centre and fringes 
with further potential in suburban areas.

5.5  The Council declared a climate and ecological emergency in 2019. A primary aim is to 
encourage active and public travel therefore the pedestrian and cycling environment must 
be safe and attractive to users. The key relevant features which are relevant to this SPD 
are:

• Pursue the Swale Strategic Air Quality Action Plan
• Spatial and transport planning to make fewer journeys necessary
• Improve public transport
• Encourage active transport
• Develop the infrastructure for electric vehicles
• Make space for nature

Page 50



9

5.6  The Sittingbourne Conservation Area Character Appraisal 
and Management Strategy, 2011, sets out the designated 
heritage assets and provides guidance for positive change and 
regeneration in the area.  Following completion of its Heritage 
Asset Review, June 2015, the Council set out the intention 
to prepare a Heritage Strategy which shall aim to create a 
unified online database of all the designated heritage assets 
in the Borough and specifically provide an Action Plan for the 
preservation and enhancement of Sittingbourne Conservation 
Area.

5.7  The Grimsey Review 2, 2018, contains evidence of how towns 
are changing and sets out three recommendations and best 
practice examples:

• There is a need for all towns to develop plans that are 
business-like and focused on transforming the place into a 
complete community hub, while developing a unique selling 
proposition (USP)

• The key to success is outstanding, talented and committed 
leadership.

• The curating of a place based on its distinct heritage is multi-
dimensional and complex but should feature strongly when 
developing the ’offer’.

5.8  Following the impact of COVID-19 on high streets Grimsey’s ‘Build Back Better’ 2020, 
identified how people are relying more than ever on their local centres and that the 
recommendation for community hubs is more important than ever. It states that it 
is much clearer now that places need to be designed for people and not cars with 
cyclists and pedestrians given priority in an accessible public realm. The key driver is 
“the ‘20-minute neighbourhood’ concept, where people should be able to access to 
the services they need in a short walk’ and this is how we should rethink our centres.

Page 51



10

5.9  Historic England's research (Heritage Counts) on Business Improvement Districts (BID) 
suggests that Heritage is acknowledged as an important element in place branding, but 
this is often under-developed and not directly measured in place brand valuation. Heritage 
and historic buildings and places are an increasingly popular and locally valued and often 
premium location for creative and other new businesses. The role and contribution that 
heritage assets make to place branding are under-researched and often implicit but not 
explicit in place branding strategies - this research therefore represents an important 
contribution to knowledge and practice in this field. Heritage is used extensively by BIDs 
to assist with place branding and place making strategies. Where BIDs did engage with 
heritage, this invariably extended beyond the most obvious heritage assets in their area 
to include less prominent, intangible heritage. Individual examples of heritage being used 
by BIDs to assist place branding include offering local heritage tours to recently arrived 
businesses, developing smartphone applications (apps) that update with thematic heritage 
trails that include GPS directions, and leading larger, externally funded projects to restore 
and maintain heritage buildings.

6. Property market

6.1  In 2018, consultants WYG Planning carried out the Retail and Leisure Needs Assessment 
for the Council to assess the needs for additional retail and commercial leisure for the 
local plan review period and undertake a ‘health check’ assessments for town centres. The 
assessment concluded that the ‘health’ (vitality and viability) of the Borough’s town centres 
is good with vacancy rates largely in line with national trends and a good range of shops 
and services while Sittingbourne town centre could accommodate up to 1,900 sq. m. of 
additional convenience floorspace and between 12,300 and 22,600 sq. m. of additional 
comparison floorspace for the period to 2037/38. 

6.2 The Local Plan Review Viability Study (draft) 2020 by Aspinall Verdi recommends a “mix and 
match” approach for residential development depending on the weight the Council wish to 
give to affordable housing versus other potential future policy asks such as biodiversity net 
gain, EV charging and others. 

7. Land Use

7.1  The High Street has a lively mix of retail, food & beverage (F&B), financial services and 
health & beauty services alongside a number of religious buildings. Above ground floor there 
are some retail functions but mostly storage, office and residential uses. The High Street 
and the Forum Shopping Centre, which lies to the north of the High Street, form the primary 
shopping area with a large number of retail stores complemented by F&B outlets and 
financial services. There is a concentration of F&B around the Station Street/ Park Road 
junctions. Bourne Place comprises leisure facilities including a cinema, bowling centre, hotel 
and restaurants.

Page 52



11

Sittingbourne Town Centre – districts

Key:
St Michael’s Road / Eurolink Way
office and residential led mixed use

High Street, commercial/residential above

1 Bourne Place, leisure F&B

2/ High Street, F&B

West St, F&B

Predominantly residential 
Community led mixed use

1

2

 
An analysis of the districts of Sittingbourne town centre

7.2  Civic and community buildings in the town centre include the Council offices on East Street, 
Sittingbourne Library, Avenue Theatre and Swallows Leisure Centre off Central Avenue and 
a Post Office, Police Station and the former community hall Phoenix House, which is no 
longer in operation, also off Central Avenue. This area therefore forms the core community 
hub. There are a number of religious buildings with four churches located on the High Street 
including Sittingbourne Methodist Church and St Michael’s Church at the eastern extent, the 
United Reformed Church at the heart of the High Street, and Sittingbourne Baptist Church in 
the western extent. 

7.3  As well as the new multi-storey car park there are a number of surface car parks behind 
the High Street to the north and south. In addition, car parking is provided at Sittingbourne 
Railway Station.

7.4  St Michael’s Road/A2 and Eurolink Link Way are both main traffic throughfares with a mix of 
non-town centre uses from car sales, car repair centres and open car parks. Sittingbourne’s 
Fire Station is located on St. Michael’s Road, the ambulance centre is now vacant having 
recently relocated. 

Page 53



12

8. Retail frontages

8.1  Analysis of the frontages and ground floor uses of the High Street, West Street and East 
Street identified the following:

• Traditional retail is focussed on the High Street between Station Street and Central Avenue 
and into The Forum.

• Independent retail is focussed on the eastern end of the High Street, West Street and East 
Street. 

• There is a concentration of bars and public houses around the Station Street Park Road 
junctions although there also historic public houses along the length of the High Street. 

• Chain food and beverage are located amongst the traditional retail. Independent food and 
beverage outlets are concentrated on the High Street between Central Avenue and Bell 
Road.

• The is a strong group of financial services on the High Street around Central Avenue. 
• There is a large number of hair and beauty services along the full length of the High Street, 

West Street and East Street.
• There is an aspiration to retain historic shopfronts as set out in shopfront design guidance.

Retail

F+B

Services

Vacant

Residential

Frontage based on type of activity

Sittingbourne Town Centre – frontage based on activity typeAnalysis of frontage based of type of activity

8.2  In September 2020 the government amended the Use Classes Order that combined uses 
A1, A2 and A3 to class E with A4 and A5 becoming Sui Generis as a measure to support 
town centres during the Covid pandemic. This was made permanent from August 2021. 
This means that unless there are material changes to the shopfront or premises, units can 
change their use across this spectrum without the need for planning consent.  Although the 
Council can identify a ‘Primary Shopping Area’ and both primary and secondary frontages, 
should it wish to do so, it cannot use The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) (England) Order 2015 (legislation.gov.uk) as a mechanism to protect these 
areas from the loss of retail to other uses covered by E Class. Use Class E allows for 
shops, financial and professional service office and for cafes and restaurants to move 
between these uses without the need for planning permission. Any material alterations to 
the premises would be required to seek planning consent.

Page 54



13

8.3  While the occupancy of units is ultimately an issue for the market, if there is an 
unacceptable dilution of retail uses in the core area, the Council will explore available tools 
to avoid harm to the vitality and viability of the town centre, noting that its role as a retail 
destination is one of its primary functions. This will be progressed in tandem with the Local 
Plan Review and will include consideration as to whether the Council’s believes it has a 
strong case for moving forward with an Article 4 Direction with a view to restricting the 
permitted development change of uses included within the new Use Classes Order.

Predominantly chain stores of both 
retail, F&B and financial institutions
Predominantly F+B, leisure and 
independent / specialist shops
Predominantly  independent / 
specialist shops

 
Analysis of frontage based on predominant activity and type of retail

Proposed primary frontage and primary shopping area 

Proposed secondary frontage taken 

Page 55



14

8.5  Whilst the Council recognises the need for flexibility at this time, it is imperative that 
ground floor frontages contribute to the vitality and viability of the town centre by being 
well designed and in keeping with the character of the immediate area. Active frontages 
contribute to maintaining and enhancing a sense of place and natural surveillance and 
proposals for development involving alterations or new shop fronts must accord with Policy 
DM 15 New Shopfronts, signs and advertisements , even where a change of use is being 
sought.

9. Heritage

9.1  The High Street as we know it today dates back to the early 12th century when pilgrims 
started to make the journey from London to Canterbury following the death of Thomas 
Becket in 1170. From such humble beginnings the town grew, enhanced by the fact 
that it lies equidistant between London and Dover, and also Rochester and Canterbury. 
Sittingbourne was seen as being the ideal overnight stopping place. When the number of 
pilgrims started to dwindle, it gave way to the coaching trade and the town became a place 
where horses could be changed in the long journey between London and Dover. Even when 
faster coaches were introduced later on, Sittingbourne remained as the favourite overnight 
stopping place. 

9.2  Successive generations of antiquarians have described the town as being ‘a street of inns’ 
and the town’s economy grew upon this. It was a prosperous place until the arrival of the 
railway in 1858 when London could be reached in a matter of hours rather than days. The 
town’s long- enjoyed position as an overnight resting place was no more and as a result 
the inns lost much of their passing trade. This was when many of the former inns became 
shops. Beneath the mishmash of later extensions and modern shop fronts lies a wealth of 
ancient buildings that date back many centuries.

Page 56



15

Sittingbourne Conservation Area 

Scale: 1:2500 @ A3

Ordnance Survey - data derived from OS PremiumOrdnance Survey - data derived from OS Premium

50 m

100 ft

Conservation area and Listed Buildings

9.3  Sittingbourne’s historic core is a Conservation Area and includes Listed Buildings. Potential 
candidates for locally listed buildings are currently under consideration in an appraisal of the 
Conservation Area. The Conservation Area has been extended to include East Street.

Historic photographs of Sittingbourne High Street

The same locations in 2021

9.4  The documents “Places Strategy” 2019  https://historicengland.org.uk/content/docs/
planning/he-places-strategy-2019/ and “Streets for All” 2018 https://historicengland.org.uk/
images-books/publications/streets-for-all/heag149-sfa-national/ both by Historic England 
have been prepared in accordance with the Historic England ‘Place making Strategy Brief’ 
(Dec 2017) and ‘Place making Strategy Project Design’ 2018) and with reference to the 
‘Wellbeing and the Historic Environment’ report 2018 providing a wealth of useful guidance 
with examples of good design.

Page 57



16

10. Strategic Road Network

10.1  Sittingbourne is in close proximity to a number of strategic road connections particularly the 
M2. The A2 runs through the centre of Sittingbourne providing access to a number of towns 
and villages within Swale, including Faversham, and beyond to Medway in the west and 
Canterbury further east. The A2 also provides access in the west to the A249 which runs in 
a north/south direction providing access to the Isle of Sheppey to the north and Maidstone 
to the south. 

10.2  Just over three kilometres (1.8 miles) to the south of Sittingbourne is the M2 motorway 
which provides a connection to Chatham and Dartford. Maidstone, Canterbury and 
Chatham are approximately a half an hour drive from Sittingbourne. Employment sites in 
larger neighbouring towns and cities are accessible whilst Sittingbourne’s employment sites, 
Eurolink for example, are equally accessible from residential areas beyond Sittingbourne. 
However, these strategic road links mean that people from within Swale can easily access 
alternative retail areas such as Canterbury.

11. Public Transport

11.1  Sittingbourne is well served by railway services which provides direct access to a number 
of destinations. This includes three services per hour St Pancras International, half 
hourly services to London Victoria and Sheerness, and hourly services to Faversham. 
Additional destinations include Ramsgate and Dover Priory. Journey times to London take 
approximately one hour. 

11. 2  In addition, there are a number of bus services operating in Sittingbourne including 
Stagecoach, Arriva and Chalkwell. Bus routes run locally to towns and villages in Swale 
including Faversham, Teynham, Iwade, Kemsley, Eastchurch and Minster etc. Further 
destinations outside of the Borough which can be accessed by bus include Canterbury and 
Maidstone. There are also several school bus services operating around the Borough 

12. Pedestrian and Cycle Movement

12.1  The High Street has wide pedestrian footpaths with shared surface raised tables which 
indicate crossing points over the carriageway for pedestrians. There are controlled crossing 
points at the eastern end of the High Street at the junction with East Street and Crown Quay 
Lane where levels of vehicular traffic increase and the road widens to allow two-way traffic. 

12.2  There are many pedestrian connections to the High Street from ‘behind’ via numerous alleys 
which provide good access to car parks and other facilities but, to the visitor, are confusing.

12.3  Central Avenue has a pleasant pedestrian environment as does the Avenue of 
Remembrance which also has a well-used controlled crossing point providing access to 
Albany Park.

Page 58



17

12.4  There are pedestrian footpaths along St. Michael’s Road although the width of the road and 
the level of traffic makes it difficult for pedestrians to navigate alongside limited controlled 
crossing points and islands. The pedestrian environment along St. Michael’s Road is 
unattractive, uninviting and, due to heavy traffic, feels unsafe. There is a single controlled 
crossing of Eurolink Way which makes it difficult to cross.

12.5  There are no dedicated cycle routes within the town centre although there are routes close 
by. There is a relatively good provision of cycle parking.

13. Parking

13.1  According to SBC’s website (2020), there are thirteen car parks in Sittingbourne providing 
space for approximately 1,077 cars plus disabled bays. The largest of the car parks is the 
new multi-storey car park (MSCP), which has a capacity of 308 spaces, followed by the 
Forum Shopping Centre with 86 spaces. Swale House, which has a total capacity of 72 
spaces, is only available for public use on weekends and bank holidays. Seven of these car 
parks are short stay only with a maximum stay of four hours. Two of the car parks (Grafton 
Road and Shortlands Road) are free, the MSCP is pay on foot whilst the remainder are 
pay and display which are free after 18:00 until 08:00 the following day. Thirteen of the car 
parks are managed by the Council. There is currently ample supply of parking spaces in the town 
and although there is likely to be a reduction in overall number of parking spaces as a result of 
future development proposals this will be assessed as part of the development study.

14. Legibility

14.1  Legibility is important in assisting people with a mental map of the town centre so that 
they can find their way around easily and remember where the places they want to visit 
are located. It contributes to the image and perception of the town centre. Legibility is 
usually defined in terms of gateways and approaches, landmarks and views and involves 
the interaction of building form, streetscape and open space. The High Street is linear and 
remains largely unchanged as a west-east route through Sittingbourne.

14.2  Sittingbourne has various levels of legibility based on its variation in architecture, street 
patterns and clear approaches. Legibility is better along the High Street to both West Street 
and East Street due its simple linear form. Legibility between the railway station and the 
high street was very poor however the new Bourne Place scheme has been designed 
to assist with imparting an image to the entry to the town and providing a new plaza and 
pedestrian route from the station. The last connection from Bourne Place to the High Street 
still needs improvement as the public toilets block a clear visual and physical route between 
the two. Connections to beyond the town centre also need assistance with legibility.

14.3  Gateways and approaches into Sittingbourne define entrances into the Town Centre and 
points of arrival. They also influence first impressions of the Town. Sittingbourne has a 
number of landmarks and features that stand out which help to improve legibility. Landmark 
buildings and features have a significant historical, architectural, or cultural meaning:

Page 59

AlisonP_1
Highlight

AlisonP_2
Sticky Note
The font should be the same size as the surrounding text please



18

• The former Court House at the junction of High Street and Park Road, currently in use as a 
public house.

• The United Reformed Church at the heart of the High Street which its church spire which 
extends above the roofline of the High Street;

• St. Michael’s Church at the eastern end of the High Street which is set back from the road 
with green space and dates back to the 14th and 15th centuries;

• The former Odeon Cinema building from 1937 with its decorated art deco façade fronting on 
to the High Street; and

• Statue of ‘The Bargeman’ is in clear view when travelling to the High Street from the south 
along Central Avenue.

14.4  There are several important views that help convey the character and sense of place 
of Sittingbourne. Views along the High Street are channelled and often framed by the 
continuous built form. The spire of the United Reformed Church forms a principal view 
in the west against the two and three-storey buildings along the High Street. There is a 
‘rise and fall’ along the High Street as land slopes upwards along West Street towards the 
approximate high point at the junction of High Street and Central Avenue. The land slopes 
downwards towards the east of the High Street. 

14.5  Other key views along the High Street include that towards St. Michael’s Church, although 
this is not as prominent as that towards the United Reformed Church due to the lower 
land at the east of the High Street. There are shorter views from the High Street along the 
narrow alleys which relate to the origins of the town and contribute to the significance of the 
Conservation Area.

15. Public Realm

15. 1  Public realm is defined as areas available for public use including; streets, pavements, 
parking areas, squares, parks and gardens. The elements that form the public realm 
are surfacing materials, street furniture, signs, lighting, public art and soft landscape. A 
successful public realm enables people to move easily through an area as well as attracting 
people to an area. There is evidence that a high-quality well-maintained environment, with 
attractive street furniture and plants which contribute to biodiversity, is effective in attracting 
people and increasing ‘dwell time’. The quality of Sittingbourne town centre’s public realm 
however is variable. 

15.2  The High Street is a one-way street, allowing vehicles to travel eastbound, with wide 
pedestrian footways. The pavement of the High Street is of an attractive warm brick which 
provides a link with the history of Sittingbourne as a brick maker and complements the 
buildings in the Conservation Area. However, over time poor repairs have compromised the 
paving in places which therefore need attention. Some street furniture can appear cluttered 
and block pedestrian routes and requires rationalising as well as sprucing up. The plethora 
of different signs also require review but with a new wayfinding strategy featuring maps 
on panel signs at Bourne Place a similar approach will be rolled out in the rest of the town 
centre.

Page 60



19

 
High Street public realm and boundary to St Michael’s Church in need of repair

15.3  West Street and East Street mostly have narrow pavements limited by road carriageway 
however a review of the public realm would benefit the spaces.

15.4  Tree planting along Central Avenue and Avenue of Remembrance enhances the public 
realm but otherwise these main pedestrian routes are basic in terms of materials with some 
damage to memorials also requiring attention. 

15.5  The Avenue of Remembrance is a lasting visual ‘Living Memorial’ to those who gave their 
lives in World War One, later extended to include World War Two. A number of memorials 
and plaques are damaged or missing, some trees are damaged therefore tree condition 
needs to be fully assessed and paving is also in a poor condition.

15.6  St Michael’s Road and Eurolink Way are both dominated by the highway with a particularly 
poor pedestrian environment although significant improvements have been made around 
the railway station with high quality paving and street furniture which are also reflected in 
Bourne Place.

15.7  Green space with seating within the Town Centre is limited to the churchyard at St. 
Michael’s Church which suffers from anti-social behaviour. The public space outside 
Swale House is not well used and has limited provision. Both spaces would benefit from 
improvement. Page 61



20

15.8  In 2015, KCC commissioned landscape 
architects Illman Young to undertake a 
study of the High Street to ensure that 
it is more resilient to climatic change. 
Proposals for street tree planting and 
storm water planters to assist with flood 
protection which is a particular concern 
on Crown Quay Lane. The proposals 
were technically feasible as the 
underground utilities were taken into 
account, the water storage capacity of 
the proposals was calculated and the 
scheme was fully costed.

16. Public Art

16.1  At the heart of the High Street, opposite Central Avenue, is ‘The Bargeman’ statue. The 
statue is a bronze sculpture of a man at a helm of a ship. The statue is modest, slightly 
elevated on a low platform and matches the scale of a person. With the exception of this 
statue, public art within Sittingbourne Town Centre is extremely limited.

17. Sittingbourne Town Centre Vision

17.1  Building on its enviable setting between coast and Downs, its rich heritage, positive 
economy and easy access, the vision is for the historic town centre of Sittingbourne to 
become the thriving community, leisure and economic heart of the Borough. 

SittingbourneTown 
Centre Vision

Page 62



21

17.2  It will be a place where local people, businesses and visitors will want to be with a greater 
choice of things to see and do for all tastes and ages during the day and the evening. In 
support of the new the new leisure quarter the town centre will provide an excellent range of 
community, cultural, leisure, retail, office and mixed-use development and town centre living.

17.3  Building on its role as a convenient and competitive retail and leisure destination, the vision 
is to increase high street footfall by achieving a balance within the town centre between 
delivering retail, leisure, cultural and commercial space needed to support sustainable 
economic growth and delivering new homes that enhance role of the town centre as a 
vibrant neighbourhood.

17.4  The town centre will be promoted as a place for enterprise with a rich mix of businesses 
which thrive in reality and online providing people with jobs and purpose. Open for 
business, the town centre will support new office space in response to working locally and 
smart home-working, will expand the leisure business offer and will create a platform for 
entrepreneurship and creative industries.

17.5  It will be a safer and cleaner place where new public realm and buildings will be of a high-
quality design to create a high-quality environment. New green spaces will support the 
expansion of the town centre for residential and leisure.

17.6  The town centre will be easy to access by foot, bicycle, bus and train as well easy to park 
ensuring its convenience particularly to access the highs street’s convenient retail and 
leisure facilities. The town centre will also connect well to wider leisure facilities such as 
Milton Creek and Albany Park as well as new residential districts especially from the railway 
station. 

17.7  Any proposals for the town centre will respond to Swale Borough Council’s Climate 
and Ecological Emergency Action Plan. Particular responses will include sustainable 
construction, ‘greening’ and extending biodiversity into the town centre and strategies to 
address the challenges of East Street Air Quality Management Area (AQMA).

18. Objectives
18.1  a) Objectives for Retail

18.2  Sittingbourne is not likely to be able to compete with nearby retail centres strong in 
comparison shopping such as Bluewater, Chatham, Hempstead Valley and Canterbury. 
Similarly, Sittingbourne is not comparable to specialist experience retail that is available 
in Faversham, Whitstable and Canterbury where people tend to visit for the physical 
environment and to browse for unusual wares. 

Page 63



22

18.3  Sittingbourne’s strength in retail lies in the wide range of budget and convenience shopping 
with readily available everyday essential goods including food, household, diy, toys, 
books, garden, pets, health, party goods, appliance, homeware and workaday clothes 
and accessories as well as the service sector such as financial institutions and the beauty 
sector. In support of this is a long list of different eateries and a strong service sector 
particularly hair, nail and beauty salons. Coupled with this the high street has a wide range 
of access points for pedestrians, cyclists, public transport users and private cars on a 
very accessible high street. Shoppers can find every essential they may need quickly and 
efficiently.

18.4  However, there is room for improvement in retail, F&B leisure and accessibility. Vacant units 
of a range of sizes provide an opportunity to further attract retailers that provide budget 
convenience shopping in tech and sports for example. There is also scope for a wider range 
of F&B outlets. In the medium-term however property owners are encouraged to combine 
forces and provide a programme of pop-up shops and F&B to attract younger people to the 
high street.

18.5  New office and residential developments in the town centre will support this focus on 
budget, convenience and essential shopping as well as the pop-up shops/F&B by increasing 
daily footfall.

18.6  To attract people to stay longer in Sittingbourne the leisure and F&B sector must be an 
important strand.

18.7  Sittingbourne has its own unique historic qualities. The historic core- the High Street - dates 
back to the twelfth century, still exists largely in its original form and layout and is lined with 
significant Listed Buildings. Retention and reinstatement of historic shopfronts support the 
focus on heritage as a driver to attract people to the town centre.

Page 64



23

Sittingbourne High Street’s F&B and night-time economy

19.  b) Objectives for Culture, F&B and Leisure 

19.1  Sittingbourne town centre has gained a new cinema and bowling alley in Bourne Place 
supported by new restaurants. Sittingbourne already has a wide F&B offer and the addition 
of chains will extend the offer further.

19.2  Analysis of trends in the food & beverage (F&B) and leisure markets shows that these are 
evolving and moving away from traditional operator models to innovative new models which 
attract Millennials such as food-pop ups, escape rooms and virtual reality (VR) gaming 
which could also start in pop-up shops. 

19.3  These provide the greatest opportunity to increase footfall into the town centre. A number of 
these concepts can operate from existing premises which provide flexible space in terms of 
size and lease terms.

19.4  Sittingbourne’s adult night-time economy is located at the High Street/West Street junction 
and clarity of the physical links between this area and Bourne Place will assist with 
extending the hours of use. Outdoor seating in both areas will contribute to a lively street 
scene.

19.5  Sittingbourne has cultural facilities within the town centre including the Avenue Theatre on 
Central Avenue, the heritage centre within the Forum, a local museum on East Street and 
the cultural centre No.34 The High Street. Further investigation into future opportunities for 
cultural facilities is required building on existing town centre facilities and the new Dolphin 
Barge Museum on the Creek. Page 65



24

20.    c) Objectives for Public Space, Physical Environment and Heritage

20.1  Building on the Sittingbourne Conservation Area Character Appraisal and Management 
Strategy, the main objective is to embrace the value heritage can add to the High Street with 
a focus on improving the physical condition of the heritage assets as follows:

• Breathe new life into old places that are rich in heritage and full of promise, unlocking their 
potential and making them more attractive to residents, businesses, tourists and investors,

• Unleash the power of the historic environment to create economic growth and improve 
quality of life,

• Historic buildings that have deteriorated through decades of neglect will be restored and 
put back into use; conservation areas improved to kick-start regeneration and renewal; and 
unsung places will be recognised and celebrated for their unique character and heritage, 
helping instil a sense of local pride, and

• Give clarity to desirable signage in the Conservation Area and on Listed Buildings 
specifically.

20.2  Repair to the public realm of the High Street is imminent. There are two key moves which 
will support public realm of the revitalised High Street:

• Clarity of the alleys and lanes leading off the High Street through their physical 
improvement, wayfinding mapping and economic strategy for employment use, and

• Green infrastructure can link existing and new biodiversity opportunities along the High 
Street and within the town centre as a whole.

20.3  The walking and cycling environment will be largely improved through these key moves. In 
addition, the pedestrian connections between the car parks and the High Street will be also 
improved with a safer and cleaner environment.

Page 66



25

An attractive Listed Building on the high street

21.    d) Objectives for the Economy including the Creative Economy

21.1  The aim is for a town centre that boasts a thriving business community, full of life from early 
morning when shoppers start their food shopping, through lunchtime when workers from 
local business come for lunch and their convenience shopping, until dusk when friends 
gather after work for a bite to eat or go to the cinema.

21.2  St Michael’s Road and Eurolink Way corridors present the public perception of visitors to 
Sittingbourne both from the railway station gateway and the as A2 vehicular-through route 
and from the Eurolink employment area.

21.3  Proximity to the railway station as well as the High Street presents an opportunity to 
introduce traditional office space and flexible office space, mixed with residential and active 
ground floor uses. 

21.4  The routes and alleys between St Michael’s Road and the High Street will be activated 
with creative industries. The energy of innovators and entrepreneurs inspires new ways of 
working and this will be captured collaboratively.

21.5  The physical environment of the road will be radically changed to an attractive tree 
lined avenue with spacious and safe pedestrian and cycle routes to facilitate a pleasant 
environment within which to move sustainably.Page 67



26

21.6  These corridors also provide the key pedestrian and cycle routes to facilities beyond but 
accessible from the town centre such a The Mill Skate Park and Dolphin Sailing Barge 
Museum at Milton Creek, Sittingbourne Retail Park, new residential development along 
Crown Quay Lane and the employment area of Eurolink therefore such pedestrian and 
cycle routes along Central Avenue and beyond will be clear, safe and attractive.

22. Alleys

22.1  There are many alleys leading from the High Street, many with historic origins. Some are 
better known and used that others. Few are actually signposted with where they lead to. 
There are many different uses along the alley ranging from car parking, retail, offices, 
homes and community uses such as places of worship. Recent restoration of alley artwork 
and name signs improves their appearance.

22.2  The objectives include:

• give greater clarity to the different alleys in terms of where they lead and provide a hierarchy 
for those which lead to the most useful places,

• consider how the use of the buildings lining the alleys can be intensified and particularly 
encourage uses along the alleys for creative industries,

• improve the public realm of the alleys, and
• protect the heritage of the alleys.

1

2

3 4 5

6

7

8

9
10

11
12

Sittingbourne town centre alleys

13

14 
15

16 

17 

18 
19 20 21 

22Sittingbourne town centre – alleysAlleys leading from Sittingbourne High Street

Page 68



27

Examples of some of the alleys leading off the High Street 

23.    a) Objectives for Community Infrastructure

23.1  A number of existing community facilities such as the library, Swallows Leisure Centre, 
Avenue Theatre, the post office and police station, are clustered around Central Avenue. 
Phoenix House, housing a number of community groups, is also located on Central Avenue 
however the facility has been closed by KCC and new venue/s are sought.

23.2  Proximity of community facilities with the High Street provides a good synergy to contribute 
footfall to the high street where people access the range of available facilities. The existing 
functions are important to the town centre and the aim is to retain the community functions. 
Land on Central Avenue is underutilised in terms of single storey buildings, car parks, 
unused land and vacancy. This is an opportunity to create a cohesive and higher density 
Community Quarter with a mix of existing and new uses - community, residential, culture, 
public space and possibly education in the form of a College of Further Education.

23.3  Existing and new community facilities will be located on the ground floor to create active 
frontages. These will be associated with new public realm particularly a new public square in 
the heart of the development.

23.4  New residential development and/or a College of Further Education will be located on upper 
floors in the ‘mansion block’ approach to massing and height. Further work is required to 
determine the need and viability for a College of Further Education. The benefits of bringing 
such a facility to Sittingbourne’s town centre are obvious both from the perspective of the 
students as well as the businesses in the town centre. But there are financial challenges to 
overcome.

Page 69



28

23.5  A tranche of land in the area is owned by Swale Borough Council and Kent County Council 
providing opportunities to realise the objectives and in particular to deliver affordable 
housing. Central Avenue is a key route from the town centre to further key community 
facilities in the south of Sittingbourne leading to Borden Grammar School, Appleyard, 
Albany Park, Sittingbourne Cemetery and Memorial Hospital and as such pedestrian and 
cycle routes along Central Avenue and beyond will be clear, safe and attractive. 

23.6  Avenue of Remembrance south leading directly to Albany Park will become a pedestrian 
and cycle priority route with access-only for vehicles to properties and hearses to access the 
cemetery. This route is already an important route but is currently compromised by parked 
vehicles. Pedestrianisation will improve the flow of movement from south of the town to the 
town centre as well as addressing Access for All issues currently posed by parked vehicles 
and tree roots.

24.    b) Objectives for Town Centre Living

24.1  The aim for a lively twenty-four hour town centre will very much be assisted with the 
provision of town centre living. The objectives for new residential development in 
Sittingbourne Town Centre are as follows:

• Affordable housing will be provided throughout the town centre in accordance with the Local 
Plan.

• Active frontage at ground floors will contribute to the liveliness and safety of the public 
realm including for residential-led mixed use development. A range of uses provide an 
active frontage which can be successfully mixed with residential including retail, leisure, 
appropriate F&B and community. Where residential is located on the ground floor active 
frontage will include main entrances and living space such as kitchens facing the public 
realm. Well-designed entrances also contribute to active frontage.

• Conversions of buildings to residential will be encouraged where appropriate. Residential on 
upper floors are encouraged through-out the town centre whilst residential at ground level 
will be permitted everywhere except the primary retail zone.

• Space standards will be as set out in the Local Plan.
• Due to the central location close to excellent railway facilities and the bus stops it is 

expected that car parking standards for residential development can be relaxed in 
accordance with the Parking SPD. In particular, any spaces that are provided will be for car 
clubs cars. In addition, electric vehicle charging facilities will also be provided.

Page 70



29

New residential development located on upper floors above retail on Sittingbourne High Street

Page 71



30

25. Spatial framework

25.1  The spatial framework provides a strategic spatial strategy that allows a consistent 
approach to deliver change over the long term and is crucial to shaping a successful place. 
Land uses, gateways, activity hubs and connections are integrated and complementary.

Over-arching spatial strategy

25.2  The illustrative framework indicates how the principles could be interpreted for the whole 
of the town centre. In addition, the specific urban design requirements for each of the key 
areas of change are set out for the following districts:

• High Street 
• East Street, Bell Road and Crown Quay Lane
• Central Avenue and Avenue of Remembrance
• St Michael’s Road and Bourne Place 
• Eurolink Way

Page 72



31

A2 St Michael’s Road/ 
Eurolink Way

High Street

Central Avenue

Zones of opportunity

26. Retail, F&B, leisure and social infrastructure policy

26.1  Prior to COVID-19 competition from internet sales and out-of-centre retailers had impacted 
upon the health of Swale’s town centres. The number of vacant units prior to lockdown was 
below the national rate and although COVID-19 is likely to have impacted on this figure 
Sittingbourne Town Centre appears to have shown a greater degree of resilience than some 
of its larger neighbours, reflecting the strength of independents and convenience shops in 
creating a positive future for the town centre. Looking forward the focus will be on improving 
the experience of the town centre as an attractive place to dwell, shop, see friends and run 
errands by taking advantage of the increased use of local high streets for a wider range of 
uses.

26.2  The Council seeks to enhance the role of Sittingbourne as a place to visit to carry out 
a range of activities from convenience and budget shopping, undertaking financial 
transactions, using beauty and hair services, visiting the post office and library, education, 
facilities for health, teeth and eyes, eating, drinking and exploring the new leisure 
particularly at Bourne Place. Sittingbourne will be a competitive town centre not only to visit 
but also to live and work in accordance with Policy DM 2 Proposals for main town centre 
uses. These activities are supported by conveniently located rail and bus connections, 
ample car parks, cycle parking and a good quality pedestrian environment. 

26.3  Development that promotes Sittingbourne’s vitality and viability will be encouraged:

a)  The primary shopping area within the High Street promotes a retail-led mix of town centre 
uses on the ground floors that support the day-time and evening economy coupled with the 
sustainable use of upper floors for commercial and residential development. Focus is given 
to ground floor units to support development that interacts positively with the street scene 
and encourages footfall; Page 73



32

b)  Beyond the primary shopping area the High Street, West Street and East Street will still be 
promoted for ground floor retail, leisure, F&B, services as so forth however to pro-actively 
support the vitality and viability of Sittingbourne town centre ground floor and upper floors 
will be available for commercial and residential development introducing uses that bring new 
life to more peripheral parts of the town centre;

c)  In all cases, consideration will be given to the impact of proposed non-retail uses in terms 
of prominence and dominance within any given frontage, with account taken of individual 
unit frontage, overall frontage length, and number of existing/extant non-retail uses. Issues 
of amenity and disturbance will be a material consideration in determining applications for 
change of use. 

d)  Owners of vacant shops will be encouraged to accommodate appropriate meanwhile or 
pop-up uses and, in larger units, stalls for new local enterprise. The existing Friday street 
market will be supported and new opportunities for street markets investigated.

e)  Frontages will be attractive and, especially in the Conservation Area, in keeping with the 
character and heritage of the High Street as set out in Swale Council’s SPD for The Design 
of Shopfronts, Signs and Advertisements, 2011 which will be reviewed in 2022 to include 
guidance on awnings. Design should celebrate historic character and local identity with 
high-quality streets and public realm. 

f)  Opportunities will be explored for the provision of a place based integrated care systems 
(ICSs) approach to health care provision located within the town centre. It is important that 
new provision for GP services are provided within the town centre and several sites are 
being considered in discussion with landowners and NHS services.

Bourne Place, part of the new connection between the railway station and the High StreetPage 74



33

27. Residential policy

27.1  Housing in the town centre will contribute toward the overall housing for the Borough. A 
capacity study of opportunity sites in the town centre has identified that 850 units can be 
accommodated in Sittingbourne town centre.

27.2  The Council will permit at least 850 new homes in the town centre in the period up to 
2037/38. This will include housing as part of mixed-use developments. The density to be 
achieved will be dependent on the character of the area and the other uses within the 
development or surrounding area.

27.3  Housing development will be encouraged to provide amenity space which may be provide 
on roofs or as balconies. Where space is tight contributions towards new green spaces 
identified in the town centre will be required.

27.4 Affordable housing will be provided as a minimum of 10% in accordance with Policy DM8 of 
the Adopted Local Plan. This will be reviewed as part of the Local Plan Review process.

27.5 Conversion of upper floors of existing buildings to residential use will be encouraged in all 
parts of the town centre including the High Street. Ideally access will be provided front the 
front of buildings but where this is not possible alternative access may be considered.

27.6 The overall massing and height of residential development will be reduced with the set-back 
of upper floors such that terraces or balconies can be provided.

27.7  Consideration of wind and air movement will be given in design of residential developments 
especially the taller buildings.

27.8 Entrances will be in a prime position, clear, obvious, uncluttered, well-designed and safe.

27.9 Size of dwellings will be in accordance with Policy ST 5 to enable sufficient space for living, 
storage and working in homes with a new focus on work-ready homes.

28. Employment policy

28.1 The impact of COVID-19 means that organisations will assess how work can be carried out 
in the future and whilst many individuals have adapted to new ways of working the greatest 
impact has been felt in the limitation in direct human contact.

28.2 Offices will still be needed to collaborate, build relationships or develop talent so therefore 
new offices will need to accommodate flexible or agile working with hot-desking either in 
a single company office or as a drop-in for independent users within a single office. These 
changes may not only improve how work is done but also lead to savings in rent, capital 
costs, facilities operations, maintenance, and management. Whilst how this evolves into 
the future is uncertain, it is possible that a move away from centralised city centre working 
towards a more dispersed pattern will benefit towns such as Sittingbourne due to excellent 
links with high-speed rail links to cities in the region.Page 75



34

28.3 Office design will undergo transformation and spaces will have to be fun, engaging, 
social and collaborative. People primarily home working may require access to different 
technology, facilities, small meetings or just a change of scene with access to food and 
beverage will use offices more flexibly as a club, a destination, a place to be requiring a 
different portfolio of space solutions: owned space, standard leases, flexible leases, flex 
space, co-working space and remote work. 

28.4 The result is that town centres, high streets and small businesses will benefit from 
commuters remaining in towns rather than commuting to cities. This presents opportunities 
for new office space to be located along St Michael’s Road or to re-purpose space, such as 
high street retail, to meet some of this new demand.

28.5 The surrounding built environment will be considered as important as the workspace itself 
with peripheral activities to work that support the office to function; morning coffees, working 
lunches, after work drinks with friends, industry and social events. Leisure and cultural 
activities create vibrancy, support local economy, contextualise work and give reasons for 
physical presence.

28.6 The Council will permit development proposals that improve the quality and range of office 
and business accommodation in a range of unit sizes. 

28.7  Fast broadband will support new office and business accommodation.

29. Alleys policy

29.1  The numerous alleys leading from the High Street to the wider town centre whilst presenting 
a good opportunity to improve connectivity need to be addressed with regards legibility, 
safety and quality. The majority are public routes and will remain so. Measures include:

• Activating the alleys by putting the buildings into greater use with a focus on creative 
industries, other employment opportunities and to new residential developments,

• Consider new developments accessed by existing alleys utilising the under-used land 
behind the high street,

• Activating the frontage with eyes-on-streets along the alleys,
• Paving and signage to impart a better sense of the direction between areas behind the high 

street and the High Street itself via the alleys,
• Improved lighting to enhance safety,
• Additional tree planting where there is space.

30. Perimeter blocks and active frontage

30.1  Perimeter blocks are typically formed of buildings located around the outer edge of the block 
facing the public realm with private areas in the centre. A site may form a part of an overall 
perimeter block, the whole block itself or be large enough to create more than one perimeter 
block. The way buildings and associated parking areas relate to the street, public routes or 
spaces (public realm) has an effect upon townscape quality, safety, security and vitality.

Page 76



35

• New development will contribute to a perimeter block structure and will front the public realm 
with active frontage and private rears. Where sites are adjacent to private land or inactive 
land use, such as the railway line, these boundaries form part of the private rears.

• Perimeter block sizes will vary and will support the creation of a grid of streets or public 
realm with a fine urban grain.

• A series of plots may contribute to blocks and the plots will be designed and articulated to 
prevent the creation of monolithic buildings.

• Free standing pavilion buildings should be avoided unless the design supports the street 
scene and avoids dead frontage.

• New buildings of all types will be designed with active frontage incorporating doors and 
windows facing public streets, routes and spaces.

• In key locations as identified on the plans the ground floor will contain retail/commercial/
leisure/residential active uses.

• Buildings will make clear distinctions between public and private areas.
• Blank walls, including blank walls with blank doors such as fire escapes, and unattractive 

boundary treatments such as close boarded fences will be minimised facing public areas.
• Entrances to buildings will be significant, clear and well distinguished.
• Where required the ground floor of the building will be set-back to accommodate an 

appropriate footpath width, upper floors may still follow the ownership line.
• Refer to the section on parking

31. Establish appropriate building heights

31.1 Building heights have a significant impact on how a building integrates with the established 
townscape and they make a significant contribution to the character of the place.

• Subject to full justification taller buildings could be accommodated could be accommodated 
along the north side of St Michael’s Road. Possible heights are likely to be above six 
storeys.

• Medium height buildings will be accommodated to the north and south of the town centre 
and around Central Avenue. Appropriate heights are likely to be between four and six 
storeys. 

• New buildings along the High Street should not exceed the height of the tallest building in its 
vicinity (excluding church spires). Appropriate heights are likely to be between two and four 
storeys depending on the specific location and site context.

• Applications will need to demonstrate how the significance of heritage assets within the 
town centre will be preserved or enhanced by proposed new building heights. New buildings 
should not damage the key viewpoints or settings of heritage assets.

• All applications for tall and medium buildings should comply with the guidance produced by 
the Design Council and Historic England.

• Applications will include a 3-D massing and building height study to explain and justify the 
building heights in the context of the submission site, the existing built form and any other 
submissions within the town centre within the public arena such as Planning Applications 
and Swale Rainbow Homes Ltd data.

Page 77



36

Tall buildings

Match adjacent 
height
Medium buildings

Building heights

32. Gateways, hubs and landmarks

32.1  Gateways are located at the main arrival points into the town centre and help people form 
their first impressions of the town. Hubs are presented as opportunities for gatherings and 
form lively locations within the town centre.

• Gateways to the town centre and activity hubs will be marked by appropriately scales 
buildings, space with well-designed public realm and public art features.

• Key spaces in the town centre will be the hubs for outdoor public activity in the town and the 
spaces will be exciting and thought provoking.

• Gateways coupled with landmarks will be promoted for tall buildings.

Enhanced gateways

Existing gateway

Enhanced hubs 

Railway Station 
and Bourne Place

Central Avenue

High Street 
Entrance

From Eurolink

A2 gyratory

A2 gyratory

Gateways and hubs

 
Page 78



37

Landmarks

Main viewpoints

Short viewpointsBourne Place

St Michael’s Church
Sittingbourne Church

War Memorial

Key viewpoints and landmarks

33. Walking and Cycling

33.1  Sittingbourne town centre is compact and provides good opportunities to ensure a walkable and 
cycleable environment within the town centre. In addition, it is important to improve access to the town 
centre, helping to reduce traffic, reduce pollution and improve air quality, support the local economy 
and contributing to Sittingbourne being an enjoyable place to visit and spend time in. In the future 
further review and consultation of closing the High Street to vehicular traffic at different times of the 
day and evening will be undertaken.

33.2  St Michael’s Road and Avenue of Remembrance skirt the town centre but do not create barriers to 
movement due to the well-placed pedestrian crossings including those outside the railway station. 
Beyond the town centre pedestrian and cycle connections that take account of desire lines to the 
following need to be improved that provide access to the following:

• Residential areas surrounding the town centre including dense urban neighbourhoods mainly in 
terrace form to the south as well as newer developments in the north, 

• To the north-east is Sittingbourne’s main employment district Eurolink, to the north-west are retail 
parks and the Milton Creek visitor destination featuring a skatepark and museum, 

• To the south is Borden Grammar School and Albany Park, one of Sittingbourne’s largest recreation 
grounds and beyond to Sittingbourne Cemetery and Memorial Hospital, and

• Crossings will be at ground level and allow people to cross quickly and efficiently, preferably in one 
movement and guard rails will be avoided.

• A particular challenge is the pedestrian and cycle connectivity to the town centre and railway station to 
and from the north via Crown Quay Lane and Milton Road as the railway line is a barrier to movement. 
To facilitate better use of the railway station by residents from the new residential developments in 
the north and by people accessing Eurolink, Ridham and Kemsley for employment Network Rail 
are planning improvements to pedestrian and cycle movement below the railway line bridges and 
provision of a pedestrian footbridge over the railway line from the north to better access the railway 
station. Similarly, to St Michael’s Road, Eurolink Way will be more pedestrian and cycle friendly with 
new tree-lined, wider provision to encourage people to walk in the north of the railway line.

Page 79



38

• New development will facilitate walking and cycling by providing or contributing to a 
permeable network of well-designed routes.

• Streets will provide a pleasant and safe walking and cycling environment through the 
provision of wide pavements, dedicated on-street cycle lanes or hybrid lanes, active 
frontages and reduced traffic speeds.

• A clearly legible and dedicated cycle network will be created which links cyclists through the 
town in the most efficient and safest route possible, with opportunities for cyclists to stop and 
engage with the town (i.e. cycle hubs and secure stands) at strategic points 

• Secure, well-lit, overlooked and easily accessible cycle parking and, where appropriate, 
changing facilities will be provided across the town centre and as part of new development. 
New residential and office development will provide secure lockable cycle facilities within the 
development.

• Particular attention will be paid to the alleys leading from the High Street to ensure it is clear 
where they are leading to and to ensure that they offer a safe and appealing environment for 
pedestrians. 

Rail
Bus
Sustrans route
Car parks
MSCP

Movement and parking

34. Public transport

34.1  Sittingbourne is well served by rail with connections to especially west east to London, 
Ramsgate and Dover and north to Sheerness. Routes south, to Maidstone and Ashford 
for example, are more difficult involving train or even station changes and therefore direct 
connections are by bus only. People will be encouraged to travel by bus and rail to reduce 
the number of trips made by car which helps to reduce congestion and pollution.

• A new bus hub is located close to the railway station with bus services linking within and 
beyond Sittingbourne. 

• Any changes to the streets and spaces will take the opportunity to improve the quality of bus 
routes and stops.

Page 80



39

• Improvements to the bus hub, as a place to wait safely, warmly and dry, and to bus routes 
including frequency could be improved. Information regarding bus routes and frequency at 
the bus hub could be much improved. 

• Pedestrian routes to the railway station, bus hub and bus stops will be logical, pleasant and 
safe.

• Bus stops will be sited to ensure all parts of the town centre and within 200m of a bus stop.
• Bus shelters will be provided as set out in the materials palette
• Developers will make provision for bus services as part of the mitigation for the transport 

impact of a development.
• The Council will seek to support initiatives which encourage improved integration between 

modes  such as cycle parking near stations, electronic signage for buses and so forth.

The future bus hub and new multi-storey car park

35. Parking and servicing

35.1  Sittingbourne town centre is well served with car parks ranging from short-stay to long-stay, 
private and council owned and in all parts of the town centre. And is suitable for visitors 
accessing the town centre.

Page 81



40

Electric vehicle charging point for taxis in Central Avenue

35.2  Parking for new development will consider the following:

• Proximity of the town centre to the railway station means that car parking requirements for 
new development can be reduced to the minimum as long as car clubs are provided.

• The location of private car parking should integrate into the design so that it does not 
dominate the public realm. Large surface car parks should be avoided and smaller car parks 
should be concealed from view for example in parking courts shaded with trees.

• Parking areas in perimeter blocks will be concealed by development to avoid dead frontage. 
• On-street parking will be integrated into the streetscene in defined bays.
• Open car parks must be shaded by tree cover, ideally a tree planted every three parking 

bays. Trees will be native.
• Facilities for charging plug-in and other ultra-low emission vehicles.
• Secure bicycle parking will be provided.
• Parking provision should be provided in accordance with the Council’s adopted parking 

standards. Refer to Parking SPD.

36. Public realm

36.1  High quality public realm design creates attractive environments for people to experience as 
well as good settings for buildings. Significant improvements will be delivered to the quality 
of public spaces and public realm. The design of streets and spaces will provide visual 
interest and delight.

Page 82



41

• Refurbished public spaces will be provided at identified gateways and hubs forming focal 
points to each area.

• Public spaces will be linked by high quality connections and visual links so that people can 
perceive the network of public spaces, both paved and green, to confidentially find their way 
around.

• Streets and spaces will be well designed to foster a sense of place and to encourage 
walking and cycling.

• Spaces will have inclusive access to all members of the community. Spaces will take 
advantage of southerly orientation and aspect to maximise solar gain.

• New street furniture, paving and lighting will be chosen from the palette Appendix x. Lighting 
will enhance safety and promote local identity through feature and architectural lighting.

• Public art will enhance the cultural offer of the town centre ideally using local artists who 
will be involved at the start of design process in order to embed public art into the scheme. 
Robust public engagement will be carried out. Art will have local relevance and contribute 
to the cultural legacy of the town. Interventions which include green infrastructure are 
encouraged.

36.2  Key locations for public realm improvements include:

• The High Street including biodiverse ‘greening’ and opportunities with a hub focussed on the 
junction with Central Avenue.

• St Michael’s Road will be remodelled as a tree lined avenue to provide a better environment 
for pedestrians and cyclists.

• Central Avenue redevelopment area will feature new routes and spaces as part of a 
comprehensive redevelopment.

• Avenues of Remembrance
• Alleys – see earlier separate section.

Bourne Place

Central Avenue

To Albany Park

To Milton Creek

St Michael’s Graveyard

Bell Lane Square

Enhanced and new 
green spaces
Enhanced streets
Enhanced hubs 
Street tree planting

Forum Square

Paved and green spaces
Page 83



42

37. New green space

37.1  Green spaces are a great benefit to our environment. They filter pollutants and dust from 
the air, provide shade, lower atmospheric temperatures, assist with flood attenuation and 
provide an opportunity for increasing biodiversity, in other words a place for birds and bees. 
Green spaces also benefit people as a place to sit or exercise thus by improving physical 
and mental health, reduce stress and improve health overall. The town centre has few 
green spaces therefore new tree lined streets and new green spaces will be delivered to 
provide a place for respite and calm and, in addition, links to existing green spaces will be 
strengthened.

37.2  Existing green spaces include:

• St Michael’s graveyard – the council will work with the diocese to remove anti-social 
behaviour and provide a more accessible and pleasant place to visit.

• Bell Road open space –the council owned space will be improved with addition planting and 
seating,

38.2  New green spaces will be located as follows:

• As part of the Bourne Place redevelopment area the car park will be replaced with a new 
green space to improve links between Bourne Place and the High Street and to provide 
a much needed green space in the heart of the town centre including new tree planting, 
extensive new planting, seating, and public art as a place to join and celebrate.

• The 2015 study by Illman Young commissioned by KCC which includes designs for storm-
water planters and appropriate planting along the length of the high street, terminating in 
to improvement to the space at the junction of Bell Road and East Street, will be taken 
forward. These proposals will be further detailed for consultation and implementation. 

• As part of the Central Avenue redevelopment area a new open space will be designed as 
part of the series of open spaces which lead people to Albany Park to the south of the town 
centre.

38.3  S106 contributions from town centre developments will contribute towards the funding 
of green space within the town centre. In addition, any new public realm and new green 
spaces would need appraisal of the implications to the Council’s budget.

38. Design quality – architectural standards

38.1  Good architectural quality and detailing of new development will make a significant 
difference to the appearance of Sittingbourne. 

• With regards masterplanning, urban design, architecture and landscape the requirements of 
Policy CP 4 Requiring good design will be met.

• New buildings and spaces will be of the highest design quality. 
• Within the Conservation Area buildings will respond directly to the local vernacular. 
• Elsewhere new buildings will be of a high-quality contemporary design reflecting their land 

use. Page 84



43

• New development proposals should investigate and record the historic environment, 
including the archaeology. 

• Opportunities to repair and renew the town centre built environment through redevelopment 
of unsympathetic.

• Shopfront design guidelines are provided for buildings with heritage interest on the High 
Street, West Street and East Street.

39. Respect heritage

39.1  The heritage of Sittingbourne is vitally important to the town’s success. 

• Preservation and enhancement of the character and setting of heritage assets will ensure 
the unique image of the town is celebrated.

• Close attention will be paid to the form, scale and mass of development to ensure 
integration between the historic and the modern townscape.

• The historic pattern of alleys will be retained and celebrated.
• Sittingbourne’s palette of building materials includes: red and yellow stock brick, flint, slate 

and clay tiles, timber weatherboarding and render and new buildings should reflect this.

Page 85



44

Page 86



45

40. Innovation 

• Support and encourage high speed data hub workspaces
• Embrace digital innovation as an opportunity  
• Real-time information displays for buses, car parks and advisory messages regarding 

congestion on the surrounding road network

41. Sustainability

41.1  Sittingbourne is the primary settlement of Swale with the highest range of shops, services, 
employment opportunities and public transport links and is therefore one of the most 
sustainable locations in the borough. This, coupled with the Council’s Climate Emergency, 
requires that new development should be in accordance with Policy DM 19 Sustainable 
design and construction.

42. Districts
High Street and the Forum

42.1  It has been determined that people are relying more than ever on their local centres and it 
has been identified that Sittingbourne is specifically benefitting. The main focus of retail in 
Sittingbourne are the High Street and The Forum which present opportunities to improve 
the retail offer, diversify the uses especially active uses at ground floor level, maximise 
residential uses on upper floors and improve the public realm. 

Improved public realm
Green space
Main frontage
Strengthened pedestrian connections
Gateways and hubs
Landmarks
Development opportunity sites
Greening of the High Street

1

2
43

1

Proposals for the High Street

Page 87



46

42.2  Opportunities include:

a)  Physical moves identified in the plan include:

• A range of opportunities to add both residential uses and additional retail uses above or 
around The Forum,

• An opportunity to put Wilko to greater use with residential floors above, and
• An opportunity to redevelop 23-25 High Street with retail at ground floor and other uses on 

upper floors and in the rear area.

b)  Where units are empty prime retail space is to be brought back to use by working with 
landowners to identified long term use and to encourage ‘meanwhile’ use of empty units to 
enliven the high street.

c)  Encourage a range of organisations with vested interests in the high street, including 
retailers, traders, community and voluntary groups, to work to together to create a new 
and all-encompassing group to facilitate improved partnership working. Despite possible 
disparate views and interests collaborative working can spawn greater participation in 
forming ideas to attract people to the high street area, such as the organisation of events 
and activities, improving shop frontages and upgrade shop signage.

d)  The Conservation Area and Listed Buildings to play an important part in the revitalisation of 
the town centre; working with landowners to better maintenance of these buildings, improve 
the overall appearance of the high street while putting unused parts of the buildings to good 
use to create value and liveliness.

e) Opportunities to increase the height of some buildings and add upper floors for uses such 
as residential.

f) The public realm to be spruced up thorough a programme of works which includes: painting 
street furniture, removal of street clutter, updating of signage and making good poor repairs 
to the paving and carriageway.

g) Ensure strong, attractive and safe connections from the High Street to key activities beyond 
the High Street with particular focus on connections to public transport and car parks.

h) Implementation of the greening, tree planting and storm water drainage strategy proposed 
for the High Street.

Page 88



47

Illman Young proposals for greening the High Street

 
Illman Young proposals for storm water planters on the High Street

Page 89



48

43. East Street, Bell Road and Crown Quay Lane

43.1 As a key gateway to the town centre from the north the St Michael’s Road junction with 
Crown Quay Lane, linking the town centre with Eurolink business park, is a particular focus 
for redevelopment with a number of opportunity sites. The Crown Quay Lane and East 
Street junction is a focus for a hub of activity centred on Swale House and a new green 
space.

1. St Michael’s Road conversion to an avenue.

2. New mixed use development.

3. New affordable housing development.

4. Improved to existing cemetery to create an 
accessible and safe green space.

5. New green public space with trees and storm 
water planters.

East Street, Bell Lane 
and Crown Quay Lane

2

2
2

1

5

Improved public realm
Green space
Main frontage
Strengthened pedestrian connections
Gateways and hubs
Landmarks
Development opportunity sites
Tree lined avenue

4

3

Proposals for East Street, Bell Road and Crown Quay Lane

43.2 Opportunities include:

43.3  Physical moves identified in the plan include:

• Conversion of St Michael’s Road to a tree lined avenue,
• Opportunity sites for new mixed-use development,
• Improvements to the existing cemetery green space, and 
• The creation of a new green public space on Bell Road.

Page 90



49

43.4  As part of the conversion of St Michael’s Road to a tree lined avenue with an attractive 
walking and cycling environment, the junction of St Michael’s Road with Crown Quay Lane 
has a significant role to play to ensure good pedestrian connections from the High Street 
to Eurolink business park, encouraging travel by train/cycle/foot and a good setting for new 
development at the junction.

St Michael’s Road & Crown Quay Lane junction, a key gateway to Sittingbourne from the north

• There will be some flexibility in the choice of uses the landowners consider for the 
redevelopment of the opportunity sites with active uses at ground level and uses which 
attract a number of people the main aims. 

• A spruce up St Michael’s Church cemetery and repair of the boundary coupled with 
prevention of anti-social behaviour aim to ensure the provision of a relaxing green space in 
the heart of the town centre.

• As a key part of the implementation of the biodiverse greening, tree planting and storm 
water drainage strategy proposed for the high street the new design for the green space at 
the junction of Bell Road and East Street will be subject to detailed community consultation.

Page 91



50

Public open space at the Bell Road East Street junction

• Planting on the High Street, St Michael’s Avenue and in the new public spaces will be 
biodiverse and will provide linkages and corridors for wildlife connecting new with existing 
green spaces such as St Michael’s cemetery.

• SBC land will be used to provide affordable housing and town centre living, enlivening East 
Street and providing a population within the catchment of the High Street.

• The frontage of the New Century cinema is considered of local historic interest and as such 
the façade is to be retained in any reuse or redevelopment proposals.

Page 92



51

44. Central Avenue and Avenue of Remembrance

44.1  A swathe of land owned by SBC and KCC presents an opportunity for a comprehensive 
redevelopment to bring liveliness and footfall to the town centre. Public realm improvements 
in the wider vicinity, a new public square and refurbishment of the memorials associated 
with the Avenue of Remembrance also provide a new setting for retained social and leisure 
facilities.

1

5

1. Residential or education led 
development with mixed use ground 
floor to create active frontage with new 
green space and public realm (indicative 
layout)

2. Review of social infrastructure to ensure 
efficient use of land and consider 
‘densification’ with ground floor social 
infrastructure and mixed use upper 
floors.

3. Public square centred on the memorial 
and the epicentre of the Avenue of 
Remembrance.

4. Pedestrianisation of the Avenue of 
Remembrance to Albany Park.

5. New community centre at Appleyard. 

2

3

Public realm
Green space
Main frontage
Strengthened pedestrian connections
Gateways and hubs
Landmarks
Development opportunity sites/SBC & KCC sites
Tree lined avenue

Central Avenue 
& Avenue of 
Remembrance

4

Proposals for Central Avenue and the Avenues of Remembrance

The war memorial on Central Avenue          Public realm options

1

5

1. Residential or education led 
development with mixed use ground 
floor to create active frontage with new 
green space and public realm (indicative 
layout)

2. Review of social infrastructure to ensure 
efficient use of land and consider 
‘densification’ with ground floor social 
infrastructure and mixed use upper 
floors.

3. Public square centred on the memorial 
and the epicentre of the Avenue of 
Remembrance.

4. Pedestrianisation of the Avenue of 
Remembrance to Albany Park.

5. New community centre at Appleyard. 

2

3

Public realm
Green space
Main frontage
Strengthened pedestrian connections
Gateways and hubs
Landmarks
Development opportunity sites/SBC & KCC sites
Tree lined avenue

Central Avenue & Avenue of 
Remembrance

4

Page 93



52

44.2  Opportunities include:

44.3  Physical moves identified in the plan include:

• New residential and social infrastructure led development with mixed use ground floor to 
create active frontage, such as community uses, with the setting of a new green space 
and new public realm ensuring retention of existing access points to the Swallows Leisure 
Centre,

• Refurbishment of both the public square centred on the memorial and the Avenues of 
Remembrance,

• Pedestrianisation of the route to Albany Park and Sittingbourne Cemetery.

44.4  The aspiration is for the Avenues of Remembrance to educate local, national and 
international visitors about the history of our community. The Council is looking for new and 
innovative ways to display the memorials and share the stories. In addition, the public realm 
requires an overhaul to remove trip hazards and provide visitors with an attractive place 
within which to explore the memorials and sit to contemplate. The well-used north/south 
route linking the town centre with homes in the south will benefit from pedestrianisation 
and limited vehicle access (to occupiers and hearses for example) allowing cyclists and 
pedestrians safe access to Borden Grammar School, Albany Park and beyond.

Extent of the war memorials on the Avenue 
of Remembrance and Central Avenue 
(copyright S Palmer and R Emmett)

Current image of the Avenue on Remembrance 
leading to Albany Park and Sittingbourne Cemetery

Page 94



53

 
Indicative image of the pedestrianisation of the Avenue of Remembrance

a)  Central Avenue presents an opportunity to create a cohesive and higher density Community 
Quarter with a mix of existing and new uses – community, health, residential, culture, public 
space and possibly education, through Further Education provision.

b) The extent of available land on Central Avenue allows for ‘mansion block’ approach 
to building massing and height arranged around a new central green open space and 
pedestrianised spaces in a highly integrated neighbourhood. 

c) New residential development will be located on upper floors contributing to evening 
liveliness.

d) Existing and new community/social infrastructure facilities will be located on the ground floor 
to create active frontages. These will be specifically associated with the new public realm 
particularly a new public square in the heart of the development.

e) Further work is required to determine the need and viability for a substantive Further 
Education provision in the town. The benefits of bringing such a facility to Sittingbourne’s 
town centre are obvious both from the perspective of the students as well as the businesses 
in the town centre. But there is a need for a financially sustainable business case, set 
against uncertainty, in respect of future Further Education funding

f)  With the demise of Phoenix House local community and volunteer groups require new 
premises with many opportunities presented by under-utilised buildings to the west of 
Central Avenue or The Appleyard or within new development identified above.

g) A review of social infrastructure in the area, to the west side of Central Avenue particularly, 
would ensure efficient use of buildings and land. This presents the opportunity to consider 
‘densification’ within the buildings providing social infrastructure on the ground floor and 
mixed use on the upper floors.

h)  Roman Square is ‘tired’ and in need of refurbishment. There is an opportunity to reconfigure 
the development or start again and replace the development with something more up-to-
date and relevant for use today.

Page 95



54

Avenue of Remembrance

45. St Michael’s Road and Bourne Place 

45.1  By converting St Michael’s Road into a safe and attractive tree-lined avenue a new setting 
is presented for a wide range of opportunity sites along the road. Building on improvements 
to Sittingbourne Railway station and development of the new Bourne Place leisure facilities 
there are opportunities to further improve The Forum, the bus hub and the route between 
Bourne Place and the High Street.

3

5

1

2

Public realm
Green space
Main frontage
Strengthened pedestrian connections
Gateways and hubs
Landmarks
Development opportunity sites/SBC site
Tree lined avenue

3

3
3

2

4

Proposals for St. Michael’s Road and Bourne PlacePage 96



55

45.2 Opportunities include:

• Physical moves identified in the plan include:
a) Improvement to the public realm of St Michael’s Road to form an avenue,
b) New green public space to provide a setting to Bourne Place and The Forum, to provide 

a place for rest and relaxation within the town centre and to provide an attractive route 
between the railway station and the High Street,

c) New residential development, maybe incorporating the Sittingbourne Hub to activate the 
ground floor, to provide a focus to the green space,

d) New mixed use and residential developments lining St Michael’s Road, and 
e) Improvements to the Bus Hub to ensure a safe, well shaded space to wait for buses.
• St Michael’s Road conversion to an avenue would include provision of cycle facilities, 

improvement to the pedestrian surface and planting of street trees.

Indicative cross-section of St. Michael’s Road on conversion to a tree-lined avenue

Page 97



56

The poor condition of St Michael’s Road

Indicative image of street trees forming an avenue on St. Michael’s Road

• Currently sites lining St Michael’s Road are underutilised low-rise buildings or unbuilt sites 
highlighting the opportunities for new mixed-use developments of taller buildings, with active 
frontage, rear parking with the new avenue as a setting leading to an increase in people 
wanting access to the facilities on the High Street.

Page 98



57

• The view from Bourne Place towards the High Street is of a jumble of the rears of the 
high street buildings, service years and car parking. A new residential development with 
active frontage at ground level, such as the Sittingbourne Hub, will contribute to natural 
surveillance of the area as well as providing a screen to the rear of the buildings on the high 
street.

• The lack of a place in the town centre to sit and relax will be addressed with a new green 
space which also provide a setting for Bourne Place, The Forum and the new residential 
development as well as an attractive route from the railway station and the High Street.

• Berry Street is the prime route connecting the High Street with Bourne Place. A new map 
sign is located at the junction of Berry Street with the High Street giving directions to Bourne 
Place and the railway station but the route initially leads to a blank wall. Public art is one 
approach to facilitating identification of the route as having importance and a range of 
design approaches include linear art along the length of the route, textured surfaces on the 
walls of the route, lighting effects along the route or panels which cast light and shade along 
the route.

View of the rear of the High Street from Bourne Place

Opportunities for public art to enliven the route between Bourne Place and the High Street

Page 99



58

46. Eurolink Way

46.1 Significant new residential development has been realised in the area between the Creek 
and Eurolink Way while Eurolink Way itself and the land between the road and the railway 
line to not currently match up to the ambition of the new development.

Eurolink Way

• Specific policies for Eurolink include:

2
Public realm
Green space
Main frontage
Strengthened pedestrian connections
Gateway
Landmarks
Development opportunity sites
Tree lined avenue

1

1. Eurolink Way conversion to an avenue.

2. New mixed use developments.

3. New pedestrian connection to the railway 
station.

3

Proposals for Eurolink Way

46.1 Opportunities include:

a) Physical moves identified in the plan include:

• Eurolink Way conversion to an avenue,
• New mixed-use developments to complete the new residential development on the north 

side of Eurolink Way, and
• A new pedestrian connection to the railway station.

b) Eurolink Way’s conversion to an avenue would include provision of a cycle lane, safer 
pedestrian crossings and planting of street trees.

c) New development adjacent to the railway line presents an opportunity for a building of 
significant height.

d) Despite the challenges of achieving a new crossing and access to Sittingbourne railway 
station from the north significant new development in the north recently built, currently in the 
pipeline and new development likely along the Creek means it is the right time to commence 
negotiations.

Page 100



59

47. Delivery
A guide to future growth

47.1 This document puts in place a vision for the town for the next ten or more years and just 
as importantly, how it aims to achieve these goals. Whilst this SPD has been drafted in 
accordance with the Adopted Local Plan, it is considered that it will also contribute towards 
the Local Plan Review drafting and combined with new policies within that Review Plan will 
provide an opportunity to encourage new development and improvement which embraces 
the climate change and ecological emergency, promote new living for all the community 
through revised affordable housing policy  and to ensure the vitality and viability of the Town 
centre is maintained or enhanced. . 

47.2 The SPD itself is intended to be a strategic guide to the future delivery of growth and 
regeneration in Sittingbourne Town Centre. It is acknowledged that circumstances will 
change over time which will necessitate a flexible approach. Its purpose is to galvanise 
action in pursuit of the stated vision. Specifically it will: 

• Guide planning policy so that development accords with the vision and principles set out in 
this document,

• Act as an investment framework and to coordinate resources in support of identified 
projects and interventions that can be made by the Council and other public and private 
organisations,

• Be followed by a detailed review of the heritage of Sittingbourne centre with regards the 
High Street Conservation Area, Listed Buildings and building of local heritage interest 
leading to a heritage strategy for the town centre.

Sittingbourne Town centre proposed plan

Page 101



60

47.3 The majority of the sites identified within the SPD are in private ownership. The Council 
will continue to work with private developers, landowners and leaseholders to provide 
confidence, clarity and assistance to bring about developments that contribute towards our 
vision and objectives for the town centre. Projects involving private land and investment:

• St Michael’s Road redevelopment as a mixed-use corridor with more active frontages at 
ground floor coupled with pedestrian and cycle routes and tree lined avenue will provide an 
opportunity to regenerate the area significantly and improve the image of Sittingbourne. the 
council already has an ongoing dialogue with the owners of the site to discuss the various 
routes and mechanisms for delivery. This will lead to a robust delivery plan. 

• Consider the market for cultural/visitor/sound facilities and identify a shortlist of potential 
options based on gap analysis. Consult prospective partners who will be interested in 
investing in such a facility to determine requirements.

• Eurolink Way site as a mixed-use development coupled with pedestrian and cycle routes 
and tree lined avenue to form a gateway to the town centre spanning Eurolink area of 
employment with the railway station and the High Street. 

• Smaller scale projects along and immediately behind the High Street predominantly 
residential in nature.

47.4 There is also some land in Council ownership and Kent County Council (KCC) ownership. 
These are locations where the council has the ability to exert control and can underpin 
growth and regeneration in the town centre including:

• Cockleshell Walk car park, Fountain Street and East Street bus depot are all earmarked for 
affordable housing delivered by Swale Rainbow Homes Ltd,

• The community hub around Central Avenue where the strategy is to build on its current role 
as a focus for community uses, encourage a more intense use of land currently used as car 
parking or single story buildings ensuring reprovision of existing uses and adding residential 
and possibly education uses with shared use of the library.

• Introduce biodiverse green infrastructure to the High Street with trees and storm water 
planters along its length terminating in a new attractive green space at the junction of Bell 
Road and East Street.

• Improve the facilities at the new bus stops to provide a more attractive bus hub with live 
information and good weather protection.

• Highways and public realm are owned and managed by KCC.

48. Funding

48.1 Project delivery will be secured using a combination of public and private investment along 
with alternative sources of funds.

Page 102



61

49. Community Infrastructure Levy and Section 106

49.1 New residential and employment development in the town centre will be liable to make 
a S106/CIL contribution that can then be used to fund infrastructure. (Community 
Infrastructure Levy is a potential tool for local authorities to help deliver infrastructure to 
support the development of an area and currently the Council does not employ this measure 
but that may change in the future).

50. Grants

50.1 There are a number of national and international funding sources that exist which the 
Council could bid for directly or support the community, private developers or landowners 
to bid for. Examples include the High Street Fund, the Levelling-up Fund, Heritage Lottery 
Fund and Homes England funding.

50.2 The Council will engage with Government, its agencies and the South East Local Enterprise 
Partnership to monitor the availability of funding for interventions in the town centre that 
fit with the vision set out in this document and where appropriate bid for this. The Council 
will also welcome the contributions that can be made by the High Streets Task Force and 
similar, helping inform the approaches taken to delivery and building a profile for the town 
and improvements and investment achieved

51. Central Government funds for movement

51.1 National Bus Strategy: Bus back better – launched in 2020, this national strategy sets out 
the vision and opportunity to deliver better bus services.

51.2 Local Bus Service Improvement Plan – by October 2021 KCC must submit a plan setting 
out how they will use their powers to improve services. Delivery of Enhanced Partnerships 
expected by April 2022

51.3 Bus services: grants and funding – a grant paid to operators of eligible bus services and 
community transport organisations.

52. Other

52.1 Along with the various delivery mechanisms and funding sources identified above other 
delivery mechanisms are likely to be pursued as the opportunities arise. For example, in 
the future the Council may wish to consider utilising its Compulsory Purchase Powers or 
entering into formal partnerships with developers to deliver development.

Page 103



62

53. A Funding and Delivery Programme

53.1 The plan has identified a range of interventions that can be delivered over the next decade 
or so. However, it is our ambition to bring forward projects as soon as possible and we have 
already started to put funding into place to deliver elements. The programme for delivery 
can be seen in the tables below. These summarise delivery into:

• Short Term Delivery (S) – 1 to 2 years
• Medium Term Delivery (M) - 3 to 5 years
• Long Term and Transitional Projects (L)

53.2 Each of the tables below set out ambitions for delivery. However, the programme will evolve 
over time and be influenced by funding availability and opportunities. It will be the council’s 
role to keep this up to date and communicate progress.

53.3 In terms of funding the Council is already committing a proportion of capital to support town 
centre regeneration.. There is also a further loan facility – Swale Rainbow Homes Ltd– 
aimed at unlocking sites for affordable housing.

53.4 As funding opportunities become available the council will make bids to deliver its 
programme.

Last updated 18/01/2022

Sittingbourne Town Centre Projects
18/10/2021

Item Project Description and actions Service Area Timescale (S/M/L 
term)

Comments/dependencies

1.1 Sittingbourne High Street 
public realm

Paving repairs                                                                                  
Painting of street furniture                                                           

Neighbourhoods 
and Regeneration

S Work with KCC

1.2 Wayfinding Update of finger signs.                            
New mapping

Neighbourhoods 
and Regeneration

S Surveyed, analysed and commissioned

1.3 Tree and shrub planting in 
Sittingbourne High Street and 
St Michael's Road 

STC tree and shrub planting associated 
with storm water drainage and 
biodiversity improvements based on KCC 
2015 study.                                                              
St Michael's Road tree planting 
associated with pedestrian and cycle 
improvements.                                                                                                                
Consultant to draw up construction 
drawings, spec and tender                                                         

Neighbourhoods 
and Regeneration

S-L Consult with the community                                         
Create a 'shovel ready' project in 
readiness for seeking funding                                                       

1.4 Avenues of Remembrance Consultancy study to determine the 
design

Regeneration and 
Economic 
Development

M Terms of Agreement for the group 
have been established

1.5 Parking strategy Review and update previous strategy Neighbourhoods 
and Regeneration

M Update and reprovision

1.6 Bus Hub Consultancy study to determine the 
future strategy and design

Regeneration and 
Economic 
Development

L

2.1 Create a strong and proactive 
Community and Business 
Group

Retailers, traders and the voluntary 
community

Regeneration and 
Economic 
Development

S How can SBC assist with the process.                                                            
Improve/ diversify  the Sittingbourne 
Market offer.                                                  
Link to events

2.2 Events Animation of Bourne Place and the High 
Street public space

Regeneration and 
Economic 
Development

S

2.3 Community/ stakeholder 
engagement 

Develop a communications plan and 
stakeholder mapping 

Housing and 
Community

S Promote support by the local 
community of Sittingbourne High 
Street.                                                                       
To bring people with us once vision/ 
plans are agreed 

2.4 Creative industries 
symposium

One day event to understand what 
creative individuals and businesses 
aspire to and how SBC can help deliver.

Regeneration and 
Economic 
Development

M Facilitated Members led workshop. 
Build on Ideas Test Creative Network 
Programme. Attendees list of 
creatives, vendors of Swale markets, 
tech industries 

1. PUBLIC REALM

2. COMMUNITY

Page 104



63

Last updated 18/01/2022

Sittingbourne Town Centre Projects
18/10/2021

Item Project Description and actions Service Area Timescale (S/M/L 
term)

Comments/dependencies

1.1 Sittingbourne High Street 
public realm

Paving repairs                                                                                  
Painting of street furniture                                                           

Neighbourhoods 
and Regeneration

S Work with KCC

1.2 Wayfinding Update of finger signs.                            
New mapping

Neighbourhoods 
and Regeneration

S Surveyed, analysed and commissioned

1.3 Tree and shrub planting in 
Sittingbourne High Street and 
St Michael's Road 

STC tree and shrub planting associated 
with storm water drainage and 
biodiversity improvements based on KCC 
2015 study.                                                              
St Michael's Road tree planting 
associated with pedestrian and cycle 
improvements.                                                                                                                
Consultant to draw up construction 
drawings, spec and tender                                                         

Neighbourhoods 
and Regeneration

S-L Consult with the community                                         
Create a 'shovel ready' project in 
readiness for seeking funding                                                       

1.4 Avenues of Remembrance Consultancy study to determine the 
design

Regeneration and 
Economic 
Development

M Terms of Agreement for the group 
have been established

1.5 Parking strategy Review and update previous strategy Neighbourhoods 
and Regeneration

M Update and reprovision

1.6 Bus Hub Consultancy study to determine the 
future strategy and design

Regeneration and 
Economic 
Development

L

2.1 Create a strong and proactive 
Community and Business 
Group

Retailers, traders and the voluntary 
community

Regeneration and 
Economic 
Development

S How can SBC assist with the process.                                                            
Improve/ diversify  the Sittingbourne 
Market offer.                                                  
Link to events

2.2 Events Animation of Bourne Place and the High 
Street public space

Regeneration and 
Economic 
Development

S

2.3 Community/ stakeholder 
engagement 

Develop a communications plan and 
stakeholder mapping 

Housing and 
Community

S Promote support by the local 
community of Sittingbourne High 
Street.                                                                       
To bring people with us once vision/ 
plans are agreed 

2.4 Creative industries 
symposium

One day event to understand what 
creative individuals and businesses 
aspire to and how SBC can help deliver.

Regeneration and 
Economic 
Development

M Facilitated Members led workshop. 
Build on Ideas Test Creative Network 
Programme. Attendees list of 
creatives, vendors of Swale markets, 
tech industries 

1. PUBLIC REALM

2. COMMUNITY

Last updated 18/01/2022

3.1 34 High Street Identify and implement a meanwhile use 
whilst purchasing

Regeneration and 
Economic 
Development

M

3.2 The Forum Praxis Work with retailers, owners, developers 
to bring forward sites 

Regeneration and 
Economic 
Development

L

3.3 The Bell Centre Work with retailers, owners, developers 
to bring forward sites 

Planning and 
Commissioning, 
Environment and 
Leisure

M

3.4 The Ambulance site Work with retailers, owners, developers 
to bring forward sites 

Regeneration and 
Economic 
Development

L

3.5 Cockleshell Walk Assess affordable housing Housing and 
Community

M Swale Rainbow Local Housing 
Company with Counties and Capital as 
the Development Partner 

3.6 Fountain Street island Affordable Housing - agree sale of sites Housing and 
Community

M Swale Rainbow Local Housing 
Company with Counties and Capital as 
the Development Partner 

3.7 East Street/Mormon site Assess affordable housing Housing and 
Community

M Swale Rainbow Local Housing 
Company with Counties and Capital as 
the Development Partner 

3.8 Community facilities Engagement with KCC regarding their 
facility. Work in partnership to explore 
the options for Phoenix House and its 
future.

Regeneration and 
Economic 
Development

S

3.9 Creative hub/ studio space Identify potential sites, pilot a scheme Regeneration and 
Economic 
Development

M Potentially within Swale House

3.10. Community facilities Determine Community Hub approach 
for The Forum car park

Regeneration and 
Economic 
Development

L

3.11 FE college FE college coupled with new public 
library as part of a Town Centre mixed 
use development

Regeneration and 
Economic 
Development

L

4.1 Heritage improvement Conservation Area appraisal to protect 
Sittingbourne High Street's heritage

Planning S Review existing Conservation Area 
and Conservation Management Plan.

4.2 Heritage protection Listed building enforcement Planning S Targeted action                                               

3. DEVELOPMENT SITES

4. HERITAGE

Last updated 18/01/2022

3.1 34 High Street Identify and implement a meanwhile use 
whilst purchasing

Regeneration and 
Economic 
Development

M

3.2 The Forum Praxis Work with retailers, owners, developers 
to bring forward sites 

Regeneration and 
Economic 
Development

L

3.3 The Bell Centre Work with retailers, owners, developers 
to bring forward sites 

Planning and 
Commissioning, 
Environment and 
Leisure

M

3.4 The Ambulance site Work with retailers, owners, developers 
to bring forward sites 

Regeneration and 
Economic 
Development

L

3.5 Cockleshell Walk Assess affordable housing Housing and 
Community

M Swale Rainbow Local Housing 
Company with Counties and Capital as 
the Development Partner 

3.6 Fountain Street island Affordable Housing - agree sale of sites Housing and 
Community

M Swale Rainbow Local Housing 
Company with Counties and Capital as 
the Development Partner 

3.7 East Street/Mormon site Assess affordable housing Housing and 
Community

M Swale Rainbow Local Housing 
Company with Counties and Capital as 
the Development Partner 

3.8 Community facilities Engagement with KCC regarding their 
facility. Work in partnership to explore 
the options for Phoenix House and its 
future.

Regeneration and 
Economic 
Development

S

3.9 Creative hub/ studio space Identify potential sites, pilot a scheme Regeneration and 
Economic 
Development

M Potentially within Swale House

3.10. Community facilities Determine Community Hub approach 
for The Forum car park

Regeneration and 
Economic 
Development

L

3.11 FE college FE college coupled with new public 
library as part of a Town Centre mixed 
use development

Regeneration and 
Economic 
Development

L

4.1 Heritage improvement Conservation Area appraisal to protect 
Sittingbourne High Street's heritage

Planning S Review existing Conservation Area 
and Conservation Management Plan.

4.2 Heritage protection Listed building enforcement Planning S Targeted action                                               

3. DEVELOPMENT SITES

4. HERITAGE

Page 105



64

54. Key stakeholders

54.1 Private Sector  

• Landowners -They have a choice to either dispose of their assets or to potentially optimise 
receipts by entering into a partnership agreement with other landowners (including public 
sector ones) and/or developers to promote a comprehensive scheme. 

• Developers – will be responsible for bringing forward the actual physical development 
of the site and secure end users. The emerging opportunities will need to be attractive 
propositions (in terms of uses and profitability) to entice developers to the area. 

54.2 Occupiers –occupiers (residential or commercial) and other businesses operating in the 
town centre will play an important role in developing the look, feel and offer in the town 
centre. As individual businesses how they present themselves, and what they offer will play 
a vital part in making it an attractive place to work, shop, visit and spend time. Occupiers 
also tend to have long-term commitments to the town and there is greater scope for 
collaboration to deliver improvements that contribute beyond their own immediate property 
or business interests, by communicating and working with other stakeholders as well as part 
of that community. The Council would welcome structures that further help facilitate such 
communication and collaboration.

54.3 Swale Borough Council - The Council has a number of roles: 

• Promotional – the Council will need to ensure that once the Development Framework has 
been adopted that it continues to promote the key sites and objectives of the plan.

• Landowner – the Council has ownership in a number of the key sites and therefore is in an 
ideal position to bring these forward for development.

• Planning – the Council will responsible for ensuring that schemes coming forward are in 
accordance with the Development Framework and planning policy, to protect the historic 
environment and to encourage better quality shop fronts and advertisements. 

• Site Assembly – the Council may consider taking on a facilitator role and working with 
landowners to assemble sites. The Council may also consider the use of its CPO powers in 
the event that site assembly proves to be difficult.

54.4 Network Rail

• Landowner – Network Rail is a stakeholder as both a landowner and operator of the railway.

54.5 Kent County Council (KCC)  

• Local Highway Authority -defining and maintaining the movement network around the town 
centre and ensuring it functions satisfactorily. 

• Service Provider – delivering some of the town’s public facilities.

Page 106



65

54.5 Central Government

• There is a wide variety of funding streams supported by central government and the Council 
will keep a keen eye for any opportunities. Often little time is given to submit bids therefore 
it is clear that projects must be ‘worked-up’ in detail ready and waiting for future funds to be 
made available.

55. Role of the Council

55.1 The Council’s role has been to produce this town centre strategy SPD which sets out the 
approach for delivering a shared community vision.

55.2 The Council’s interventions to deliver the vision include:

• Use of Council assets - to support economic prosperity
• Public realm and green spaces – to create places for nature and biodiversity as well as for 

people to socialise
• Promote cultural, leisure and tourism initiatives – in support of the retail function
• Facilitate sustainable transport and connectivity and improve air quality and support climate 

change agenda
• Improve digital technology - to support business and social interaction and coworking space
• Car parking - to support retail as well as sustainable alternatives
• Street cleansing and litter management
• Compulsory Purchase Orders where land assembly is needed to deliver the vision.

55.3 The strategy set out in the SPD provides a framework for partnerships to support private 
sector initiatives and investment that deliver the vision, such as:

• To encourage and facilitate investment to deliver the vision
• To open up opportunities for external funding bids eg heritage and town centre initiatives 

that deliver the vision
• Facilitate meaningful business engagement with local traders and businesses
• Support and facilitate cultural activities and events
• Facilitate and support community initiatives 
• Positively exploit heritage and natural assets to make more attractive and better connected
• spaces

Page 107



This page is intentionally left blank



Policy and Resources Forward Decisions Plan – September 2022 meeting 

 

Report title, background 
information and recommendation(s) 

Date of 
meeting 

Open or 
exempt? 

Lead Officer and report author 

Miscellaneous constitution updates 28/9/22 Open Head of Service: David Clifford 
 
Report author: David Clifford 

Q1 Budget monitoring report 
 

28/9/22 Open Head of Service: Lisa Fillery 
 
Report author: Caroline Frampton 

Risk Management Update 
 
 

28/9/22 Open Head of Service: Alison Blake 
 
Report author:  Alison Blake 

Sittingbourne Town Centre – 
Supplementary Planning Document 
 

28/9/22 Open Head of Service: Flo Churchill 
 
Report author: Alison Peters 

 

P
age 109

A
genda Item

 7



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

1 

 

Policy and Resources Agenda Item:    

Meeting Date 28 September 2022 

Report Title Financial Management Report – First Quarter Monitoring 
2022/23 

EMT Lead Lisa Fillery, Director of Resources 

Head of Service   

Lead Officer Caroline Frampton, Principal Accountant 

Classification Open 

Recommendations 1. To note the projected revenue overspend of £909,177.  

2. Members to agree to top up the Pensions & Redundancy 
Reserve by £100k.   This is to be met from the Budget 
Contingency Reserve.  

3. Members to approve delegated authority to the Director 
of Resources to assess the appropriate use of reserves 
to fund expenditure at year end. 

4. To note the capital expenditure of £2,133,576 against the 
Revised Budget as detailed in Table 2 and Appendix I. 

5. To note the two new capital projects and their associated 
funding. 

6. The Council should in principle continue to participate in 
a county wide business rates pool but delegate to the 
Director of Resources in consultation with the Leader the 
authority to change this decision if there is a significant 
change in circumstances. 

               

1. Purpose of Report and Executive Summary    

1.1 This report sets out the quarter 1 revenue and capital budget monitoring 
forecast for 2022/23.  The report is based on service activity for April – June 
2022 and is collated from monitoring returns from budget managers. 

1.2 The purpose of the report is to forecast the estimated outturn position for 
2022/23 compared to the budget approved at Council in February 2022 and 
subsequently amended by virements, made under delegated authority during 
the year.   

1.3 The headline figures are: 

• revenue overspend on services of £909,177 – Table 1; 

• capital expenditure of £2,133,576 – Table 2 and Appendix I.   

Page 111

Agenda Item 8



 

2 

2. Background 

2.1 The Council operates a budget monitoring process at Head of Service level, 
with regular reports to the Policy and Resources Committee and the Strategic 
Management Team. 

3. Proposals 

Revenue Outturn 

     Table 1 - Variance by Service  

 
Service 
Manager 

Working 
Budget 

Projected 
Outturn 
2022/23 

Projected 
Variance 

    £ £ £ 

Chief Executive L. Reed 247,450  227,887  (19,563) 

Policy, Governance & Customer 
Services 

D. Clifford 2,505,840 2,480,153 (25,687) 

Director of Regeneration E. Wiggins 170,360  173,654  3,294  

Director of Resources L. Fillery 132,030  132,044  14  

Housing & Community C. Hudson 3,712,100  4,501,793  789,693  

Planning F. Churchill 835,950  968,760  132,810 

Environmental & Leisure Services  M. Cassell 6,777,150  6,729,829  (47,321) 

Regeneration & Economic 
Development 

J. Johnson (149,300) 24,553 173,853 

Finance & Procurement P. Wilson 811,740  847,365 35,625 

Revenues & Benefits Z. Kent 302,610  302,610 0 

Environmental Health T. Beattie 609,120  575,778  (33,342) 

Information Technology C. Woodward 1,377,120  1,374,523  (2,597) 

Internal Audit 
Head of 
Internal Audit 

188,690  188,690  0  

Human Resources B. Sandher 483,090  462,510  (20,580) 

Legal   C. Valmond 549,610  361,910  (187,700) 

Corporate Items   1,795,440 1,906,118  110,678 

NET REVENUE SERVICE 
EXPENDITURE  

  20,349,000  21,258,177  909,177 

Financed by:         

Revenue Support Grant    (119,000) (119,000) 0  

Lower Tier Services Grant   (192,000) (192,000) 0  

Services Grant   (296,000) (296,000) 0  

Business Rates   (9,072,000) (9,072,000) 0  

New Homes Bonus   (1,407,000) (1,407,000) 0  

Collection Fund Surplus   0  0  0  

Council Tax Requirement   (9,263,000) (9,263,000) 0  

TOTAL FINANCING   (20,349,000) (20,349,000) 0  

NET EXPENDITURE  
(Contribution (to)/ from General 
Fund) 

  0  909,177  909,177 

Page 112



 

3 

3.1 The variances with brackets are underspends, i.e. income received was 
greater than the budget or the spend was less than budget; variances with no 
brackets are overspends, i.e. the income was less than the budget, or the 
spend was more than budget.  The significant variances from budget are 
explained below. 

3.2 Policy, Governance & Customer Services £25,687 projected underspend:  
£80,590 underspend mainly Members’ Allowances, contract overspend on the 
Sheerness Gateway with Kent County Council of £57,000 for proposed building 
works. 

3.3 Housing & Community Services £789,693 projected overspend:  there is an 
estimated increase on temporary accommodation of £762,111.   
Based on last year comparison of the actual 1st quarter costs, homelessness 
accommodation costs increased 41%.   Placements increased by 21%, the 
remaining 20% increase reflecting the growth in landlord charges.   Our two 
main concerns with the growth in placement numbers are the difficulty in 
finding affordable permanent accommodation for clients and the lack of 
available private rented properties.   The growth in landlord charges continues 
to be a concern, reflecting the current economic position.   One landlord, who 
holds approximately 36% of the current accommodation occupied, has very 
recently advised that they will be increasing their charges by 8% in September 
– this increase is not allowed for in the current estimates, however the Housing 
Service will of course be looking to mitigate this increase as best possible. 

3.4 Planning £132,810 projected overspend:  there is additional income of 
£231,000 to date from planning fees. In addition, a further £150,000 is 
anticipated from the major application at Bobbing. This is offset by consultation 
advice as well as a potential shortfall of income of £65,000 on local land 
charges due to economic uncertainly affecting the housing market and a drop 
in land searches fees and additional agency costs covering vacant posts. 

3.5 Environment & Leisure £47,321 projected underspend:  

• there is a projected overspend of £212,120 on refuse collection 
including £229,900 indexation compensation payable to contractor; 

• projected overspend of £38,980 re Street Cleansing being higher 
indexation of costs than anticipated; 

• projected underspend of £40,140 re Public Conveniences, new 
facilities not yet in service; 

• projected overspend of £33,090 re Parks & Open Spaces; 

• projected overspend of £60,000 re Grounds Maintenance contract; 

• projected additional income of £369,710 re Parking Management, 
including £68,080 MSCP increased usage from leisure complex and 
pandemic recovery, £258,870 additional parking fees, £79,380 
additional excess parking fees, £25,570 rent for masts, additional 
service payments due to parking companies £39,980 and external 
contractors costs £10,480;  

• projected net £18,340 other additional costs from miscellaneous 
other services.  

Page 113



 

4 

3.6 Regeneration and Economic Development projected overspend £173,853:  
mainly agency staff, rent review legal costs and energy bills at Swale House. 
Additional Facilities Management costs and reduced rental income at Bourne 
Place. 

3.7 Finance & Procurement projected overspend £35,625: additional consultancy 
advice and recruitments costs. 

3.8 Revenues & Benefits £nil projected variance:  forecast underspends within 
Revenue & Benefits are to be transferred to reserves to fund the transformation 
work to support the move to the banded CTS scheme.    

3.9 Shared Services £244,219 projected underspend:  the Legal Services 
projected underspend of £187,700 is due to additional income from recharges 
to Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells.  There is a projected underspend on the 
service recharge from Maidstone Council for HR of £20,580. 

3.10 Corporate Items projected overspend of £110,678: this is mainly additional 
insurance costs £66,000 as a result of higher property premiums directly 
related to increased building costs and reduced external interest income.   

Reserves 

3.11 Members to agree to top up the Pensions & Redundancy Reserve by 
£100,000. This is to be met from the Budget Contingency Reserve.   

Capital Expenditure  

3.12 This section of the report details actual capital expenditure to end of quarter 1 
and highlights any variations between the revised 2022/23 capital budget and 
the projected outturn. The revised budget includes the 2021/22 roll forwards as 
agreed by the Policy and Resources Committee 13 July 2022. 

3.13 Members to note that two new capital schemes have been approved – 

• Lynsted Churchyard Walls – Capital Receipts - £120,000 

• Coach Parking Sheerness – Reserves – £35,000 

 – and budgeted spend on Oare Gunpowder Works is increased to £29,890. 

3.14 Actual expenditure is £2,133,576 which is 6% of the budget. A summary is set 
out in Table 2 below and further details are shown in Appendix I.  

Table 2 – Capital Expenditure to end of June 2022 

Capital Scheme 

 

2022/23 
Revised 
Budget 

2022/23 
Actual to end 
of June 2023 

Projected 
Variance 

  £’000 £’000 £’000 

Total Housing & Community 
Services 

29,025 505 0 

Page 114



 

5 

Capital Scheme 

 

2022/23 
Revised 
Budget 

2022/23 
Actual to end 
of June 2023 

Projected 
Variance 

  £’000 £’000 £’000 

Total Regeneration & Economic 
Development  

4,620 1,539 0 

Total Environment & Leisure 2,016 73 4 

Total ICT 219 17 0 

Total Policy 50 0 0 

Total Capital Programme 35,930 2,134 4 

3.15 Housing and Community Services – Disabled Facilities Grant – funding is from 
Central Government and is paid via Kent County Council.  The grant is part of 
the overall Better Care Fund which incorporates aspects of health, and the 
Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) money which must be used on mandatory 
grants that the Council administers.  The money should be rolled over to the 
following year to continue funding grants approved within the year.  The spend 
is dependent on applications received, and due to Covid-19, owners not 
wanting work to proceed or builders unable to carry out work, the number and 
spend on grants has been impacted.  Additionally, once a grant is approved the 
applicant has 12 months to complete the work, therefore the DFG spend is a 
constant rolling process that crosses financial periods. 

3.16 There has been a delay to the planned expenditure to deliver affordable homes 
within the district, however the current assumptions are that this spend will now 
fall in future years and so there is no variance on the project at this stage. 

Funding of the 2022/23 Capital Programme   

3.17 The 2022/23 capital programme expenditure of £35,929,630 is to be funded as 
set out in Table 3 below.  

Table 3: Capital Programme Funding 

 2022/23 
Revised 
Budget 

 £’000 

Capital grants and other contributions  6,404 

Capital receipts 1,528 

Earmarked reserves 2,108 

Page 115



 

6 

 2022/23 
Revised 
Budget 

Borrowing 25,890 

Total Capital Funding 35,930 

4. Kent Business Rates Pooling agreement 

4.1 Local authorities are able to enter into arrangements with other Councils to 
pool their business rates. Legislation allows councils to voluntarily enter into a 
business rates retention pool. Councils within a pool are treated as a single 
entity with tariffs and top ups netted off and a single levy rate applied. In two 
tier areas this creates the potential for the levy paid by Borough Councils being 
reduced thus retaining more resources in the local area. Swale has been 
member of the Kent Business Rates Pool since 2015/16. 

4.2 On 16 September the Kent Finance Officers met and discussed the future of 
the Kent Business rates Pool. Swale has been part of these arrangements for a 
number of years now. The main conclusions were;  

• There are still potentially significant financial benefits to a pool, and  

• In looking at the optimal composition there may be some opportunity to 
change the membership.  

4.3 Currently Canterbury, Tunbridge and Malling, Sevenoaks and Dover are not in 
the pool but receive some compensatory payments from total pool receipts. 
The Council which has by far the biggest growth in business rates above base 
line is Swale and Swale will be the biggest beneficiary of any pool. The pool 
has to reapply to DLHUC by 7 October therefore this item is being considered 
at this meeting. There would still be an option for the pool not to proceed up to 
28 days after the Local Government Finance Settlement is received. 

4.4 Discussions are underway currently with KCC and the other boroughs but we 
do not yet have the full information to make a final decision. Given the timing of 
the response required by DLHUC it is recommended that the Council should in 
principle participate in a county wide business rates pool but delegate to the 
Chief Financial Officer in consultation with the Leader the authority to change 
this decision if there is a significant change in circumstances. 

5. Alternative Options 

5.1 None identified – this report is largely for information. 

6. Consultation Undertaken or Proposed 

6.1 Heads of Service and Strategic Management Team have been consulted in 
preparing this report. 

Page 116



 

7 

7. Implications 

Issue Implications 

Corporate Plan Good financial management is key to supporting the 
Corporate Plan objectives. 

Financial, Resource 
and Property 

As detailed in the report. Budget holders will need to 
review the current forecast position to identify savings to 
address the forecast overspend. 

Legal, Statutory and 
Procurement 

The monitoring report is not a statutory requirement, but it 
is a requirement of the Council’s Financial Regulations. 

Crime and Disorder None identified at this stage. 

Environment and 
Climate/ Ecological 
Emergency 

The report identifies a wide range of expenditure headings 
which support the Council’s Climate and Emergency 
Action Plan. 

Health & Wellbeing None identified at this stage. 

Safeguarding of 
Children, Young 
People and Vulnerable 
Adults 

None identified at this stage. 

Risk Management and 
Health and Safety 

The Council’s overall financial position is a key risk in the 
Council’s Corporate Risk Register. 

Equality and Diversity None identified at this stage. 

Privacy and Data 
Protection 

None identified at this stage. 

8. Appendices 

8.1 The following documents are published with this report and form part of the 
report: 

• Appendix I: Capital Expenditure to end of June 2022/23  

9. Background Papers 

• Council Meeting Agenda and Minutes 23 February 2022 Item 12 

 

  

Page 117



Appendix I 
Capital Quarter 1 2022/23 

8 

 

  
2022/23 
Working 
Budget 

2022/23 
Actual to 

date 

2022/23 
Projected 
Variance 

Funding Notes 

  £ £ £   

Housing & Community Services        

CCTV 60,000 0 0 Reserves 

Disabled Facilities Grant Discretionary 3,792,330 0 0 External Grant 

Disabled Facilities Grant Mandatory 1,927,530 462,685 0 External Grant 

Housing Repair Grants Over 60 0 1,000 0 External Grant   

RHB2 Decent Home Loans Owner Occupier 0 6,660 0 Long Term Loans/ Grants   

Winter Warmth Grants 0 13,479 0 External Grant   

Local Housing Company 23,000,000 21,464 0 Borrowing 

Local Housing Company - Business Planning Work 192,760 0 0 Housing & Commercial Growth Business Fund 

Land Regeneration/Improvement Works at Dolphin Barge 
Museum & Skatepark 

52,060 0 0 Special Project Fund 

Total Housing & Community Services 29,024,680 505,288 0   

     

Regeneration & Economic Development        

Sittingbourne Town Centre 641,080 0 0 Borrowing 

Faversham Creek Basin Regeneration Project (Swing Bridge) 200,000 0 0 Capital Receipts 

High Streets   424,000 0 0 Town Centres, High Street Fund 

Queenborough & Rushenden Klondyke Land Improvement 0 652,943 0 External Grant   

Coronation Clock Tower Sheerness   81,600 79,360 0 
Improvement & Resilience Fund/ Town Centres, 

High Street Fund/ S106 

Redevelopment of Master's House, Sheerness 1,318,670 530,920 0 
Improvement & Resilience Fund/ Capital 

Receipts/ External Grant 

Swale House Refurbishment 1,954,630 276,065 0 Borrowing 

Total Regeneration & Economic Development  4,619,980 1,539,288 0   

     

P
age 118



Appendix I 
Capital Quarter 1 2022/23 

9 

  
2022/23 
Working 
Budget 

2022/23 
Actual to 

date 

2022/23 
Projected 
Variance 

Funding Notes 

  £ £ £   

Environment & Leisure        

Barton's Point Coastal Park - replacement bridge 7,810 3,959 0 Capital Receipts 

Beach Huts 60,000 0 0 Capital Receipts 

Coach Parking Sheerness 35,000 0 0 Reserves 

Gunpowder Works Oare Faversham - new footbridge and 
connecting paths 

29,890 0 0 S106 

Sheppey Improvement Fund 190,000 0 0 Capital Receipts 

Leisure Centres / Changing Places toilets 293,850 0 0 Borrowing/ Grant 

Lynsted Churchyard Walls 120,000 0 0 Capital Receipts 

Milton Creek Access Road 40,000 0 0 Reserves 

New Play Area – Iwade Schemes 45,000 0 0 S106 

Open Spaces Play Equipment 456,000 0 0 S106 

Play Improvements 200,000 64,984 0 
Capital Receipts £50k/ Special Projects Fund/ 

Reserves 

Public Toilets (including Minster Leas, Queenborough All Tide 

Landing, Forum Sittingbourne, Milton Creek Country Park and 
Toilets & Shower Block Barton's Point) 

257,620 0 0 
Special Projects & Improvement / Resilience 

Fund 

Resurfacing Promenade, The Leas 73,830 0 0 External Grant 

Resurfacing Shellness Road, Leysdown 0 3,677 3,677 Leysdown Project Reserve 

Wheeled Bins 207,450 0 0 R & R Reserve 

Total Environment & Leisure 2,016,450 72,620 3,677   

       

 
 
 

    

     

P
age 119



Appendix I 
Capital Quarter 1 2022/23 

10 

  
2022/23 
Working 
Budget 

2022/23 
Actual to 

date 

2022/23 
Projected 
Variance 

Funding Notes 

  £ £ £   

ICT       

ICT Infrastructure & Equipment Replacement 218,520 16380 0 R & R Reserve 

Total ICT 218,520 16,380 0   

       

Policy      

Council Chamber IT Equipment 50,000 0 0 Capital Receipts  

Total Policy  50,000 0 0   

     

Total Capital Programme 35,929,630 2,133,576 3,677   

 

 

 

  

P
age 120



 

 Page 1 of 3 

Policy & Resources Committee Meeting  

Meeting Date 28th September 2022 

Report Title Risk Management Update 

EMT Lead Lisa Fillery – Director of Resources 

Head of Service Alison Blake – Interim Head of Audit 

Lead Officer Alison Blake – Interim Head of Audit 

Classification Open 

Recommendations 1. To consider the Council’s corporate risks, gaining 
assurance that key risks are being appropriately 
managed. 

 

1 Purpose of Report and Executive Summary 
 
1.1 Reporting of risk information is key to ensuring risks are being appropriately 

identified and managed and, ultimately, to ensuring the Council achieves its 
priorities.  This report sets out the Council’s corporate risks which have been 
reviewed and updated in light of the new Risk Management Framework, progress 
on implementing planned controls and other changes surrounding the risk.   
 

1.2 The purpose of the report is to provide Members of Policy & Resources 
Committee with an overview of risks which could prevent achievement of the 
Council’s strategic priorities, and how these risks are being managed.   
 

1.3 Some key changes have been made to the corporate risks including the addition 
of two new risks around recruitment and retention of staff, and the implications 
from the cost-of-living crisis.  Additionally, while it is difficult to compare old and 
new risk scores the homelessness risk has increased.  Appendix I outlines further 
details on the corporate risks and how they have changed. 

 

2 Background 
 
2.1 The Council’s risk management arrangements have been in place since 2015, 

with Mid Kent Audit facilitating the operation of the overall process.  The Risk 
Management Framework has recently been comprehensively reviewed and 
updated, with the final version approved by Audit Committee in July 2022.  Over 
the years risk management processes have become well established with officers 
engaged in the process and aware of their risks and how to manage them. 

 
2.2 Risk information is routinely reported to Senior Management Team (SMT) and 

Members.  SMT receive quarterly updates on all corporate and key operational 
risks.  Before the new committee structure Informal Cabinet received 6-monthly 
reports on the Council’s key risks, and this is now the responsibility of Policy & 

Page 121

Agenda Item 9



 

 Page 2 of 3 

Resources Committee.  Audit Committee receive an annual report on the 
effectiveness of the Council’s risk management arrangements.    
 

2.3 Historically corporate and operational risks have been captured on spreadsheets 
and a central version maintained by Mid Kent Audit.  To further embed risk 
management arrangements risk management software (JCAD) has been 
purchased and configured to reflect the Council’s Risk Management Framework.  
JCAD will ensure risk owners have direct access to their risks, including reviewing 
and updating these risks routinely.  It will also improve the reporting of risk 
information across the Council.   
 

2.4 Operational risks across all Council services (including shared services) are 
currently being reviewed and updated alongside the JCAD roll out to ensure they 
are current and reflect the new Risk Management Framework.  Once complete 
key risk information will be reported to Senior Management Team and Members. 

 

3 Proposals 
 
3.1 Members of Policy & Resources Committee are responsible for oversight and 

challenge of how the Council’s key risks are managed.  In particular the 
management of those risks above the Council’s risk appetite.  As such Members 
are asked to consider the Council’s risks and whether they are being 
appropriately managed. 
 

 

4 Alternative Options 
 
4.1 Identifying and monitoring the Council’s risks is a key component of effective 

governance. The Council could decide not to identify, monitor and report on high-
level risks, but this would be contrary to the agreed Risk Management Framework 
and principles of good governance.  

 

5 Consultation Undertaken or Proposed 
 
 
5.1 All risk owners and Heads of Service have been involved in the identification and 

assessment of the Council’s risks.  The risks reported here have been reviewed 
and updated by the relevant risk owner. 

 

6 Implications 
 

Issue Implications 

Corporate Plan Effective risk management is part of the Council’s governance 
framework. The purpose of the risk management process is to 
ensure that key risks are identified and appropriately managed as 
the Council pursues its Corporate objectives. 

Page 122



 

 Page 3 of 3 

Financial, 
Resource and 
Property 

Investment in developing risk management arrangements is being 
met from existing resources within the Mid Kent Audit partnership.  

No implications identified at this stage. 

Legal, Statutory 
and Procurement 

None identified at this stage 

Crime and 
Disorder 

None identified at this stage 

Environment and 
Climate/Ecological 
Emergency 

None identified at this stage 

Health and 
Wellbeing 

None identified at this stage 

Safeguarding of 
Children, Young 
People and 
Vulnerable Adults 

None identified at this stage 

Risk Management 
and Health and 
Safety 

This report is about risk management.  

No H&S implications identified at this stage. 

Equality and 
Diversity 

None identified at this stage 

Privacy and Data 
Protection 

None identified at this stage 

 

7 Appendices 
 
7.1 The following documents are to be published with this report and form part of the 

report: 

• Appendix I: Risk Management Update 
 
 

8 Background Papers 
 

• Risk Management Framework 2022:  Appendix I Swale Risk Management 
Framework - 2022 Draft.pdf 

Page 123

https://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/documents/s23804/Appendix%20I%20Swale%20Risk%20Management%20Framework%20-%202022%20Draft.pdf
https://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/documents/s23804/Appendix%20I%20Swale%20Risk%20Management%20Framework%20-%202022%20Draft.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Risk Management Update 
 

September 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 125



2 
 

Risk Management Process 

A risk is a potential future event that, if it materialises, effects the achievement of objectives.  Risk 

management is the process of identifying, measuring and responding to risks.  These processes help to 

ensure that the Council achieves its corporate and service objectives by controlling risks in balance with 

resources.  Good risk management also increases our ability to cope with developing and uncertain events 

and helps to instil a culture of continuous improvement and optimisation. 

The Risk Management Framework sets out the Council’s approach to managing corporate and operational 

(service) risks.  The risk management process is broken down into the following key components, which 

start with being clear about what the Council, or service are trying to achieve. 

 

The Risk Management Framework also includes the Council’s risk appetite statement, which articulates 

how much risk the Council is comfortable with and able to bear.  The Council recognises that to achieve its 

objectives it must take risks, but that some risks are unacceptable (above our tolerance) and so action 

should be taken immediately to manage these risks.  Risk appetite and tolerance are illustrated in the 

following matrix: 

 

Page 126



3 
 

Corporate Risks 

The Council’s corporate risk register includes risks that could hinder the Council in achieving its strategic 

priorities and delivering the overall function of the Council.  These risks are owned by Members and Senior 

Management Team (SMT) who are responsible for managing risks by ensuring action is taken to reduce the 

risk where possible.   

Risk owners in SMT have reviewed and updated their corporate risks.  This review has been conducted 

using the new Risk Management Framework, which means the risks have been re-scored using the new 

impact and likelihood scoring criteria, as set out in Appendix Ia.  The new Framework also re-defines the 

Council’s risk appetite and so the colour rating of the risks has been updated.    

The risk matrices below detail the risk scores of the corporate risks.  They show how the risks scored under 

the old Framework (as at April 2022) and how the risks score in the new Framework (as at September 

2022) – both in terms of the current rating and the mitigated rating (i.e. what the risk score will be once 

planned actions have been completed).  Further detail on the corporate risks, including a description of the 

risk and details of existing and planned key controls are outlined below the diagram. 

 

Page 127



4 
 

Summary of Key Changes 

Worsening economic conditions mean ongoing financial implications associated with the homelessness risk.  This has 

resulted in an increase in the impact of this risk.  

The risk social inclusion has been removed and replaced with the demands and community pressure risk.  The new 

risk reflects the implications to the Council of the cost-of living crisis resulting from increased demand to support 

residents and business in the Borough and from potential loss of income.   

The recruitment and retention risk has been added to the corporate risk register as services across the Council 

struggle to retain staff and recruit to vacant posts.  The ongoing economic conditions mean there is the potential for 

this position to worsen having Council-wide implications, rather than affecting only some services.   

The risk description for design of major contracts has been updated to reflect adverse market conditions which are 

affecting contractor costs. 

The likelihood of both housing supply and major contractor failure have decreased.  Housing supply due to nearing 

delivery of the 5-year housing supply and contractor failure due to the successful implementation of controls to 

support contractors who may be struggling.   

 

 

 

  

Page 128



5 
 

Corporate Risk Register  

Risk (title / full description) Risk Owner Key Existing Controls 
Current rating 

 
Impact     L'hood     Grade 

Controls planned 
Mitigated rating 

 
Impact     L'hood     Grade 

Homelessness 
Increases in homelessness from 

the lifting of the eviction ban 
and other social economic 

impacts from the pandemic 
create additional workload and 
increased cost burden for the 

Council. 

Ben Martin 
& Charlotte 

Hudson 

- Review of temporary accommodation provision 
and maximising use of public sector assets 

through joint working with social housing partners 
and considering other opportunities (e.g. use of 

void accommodation) 
- Supporting / influencing developers to unlock 

additional social housing 
- Landlord incentive scheme and close working 

with landlords and housing providers to 
incentivise private sector housing options and 

negotiate temporary accommodation costs 
- Housing Allocations Policy  

- Homeless Prevention Team in place 
- Forecasting of homelessness spend and 

adjustments to budgets made as part of medium-
term financial planning. 

- Temporary Accommodation Improvement Plan 
in place and being actioned. 

5 4 20 

- Undertake a tender process for provision of 
temporary accommodation 

- Increasing supply of affordable housing to 
increase rental supply 

- Review all those in temporary accommodation 
households to ensure accommodation is being 

used, benefit claims are maximised and 
appropriate support given 

- Revised Housing Strategy being drafted for 
October Housing and Health Committee. 

- Additional temporary Housing Benefit Officer 
being employed to ensure maximum housing 

benefit is claimed on TA. 
- Business case being prepared for Council 

purchase of properties to use as temporary 
accommodation 

3 4 12 

Worsening inflation and the 
cost-of-living crisis increase 
pressures on individuals and 
business.  This results in an 

increase in demands on Council 
services, loss of income and 

community pressure, leading to 
increased costs and 

reputational damage. 

Richard 
Palmer & 
Charlotte 
Hudson 

- Internal Cost of living working group 
- Administration of Household Support Fund 

- Volunteer sector group in place to identify key 
risks and collaborative working 

- Controls outlined in the Homelessness risk 

4 5 20 

- Government Programme of support likely to be 
announced. 

- Explore Redirection of grant funds to support 
increase on demand to VCS 

- Use of Policy & Practice data platform to 
provide targeted support 

4 4 16 

  

P
age 129



6 
 

Risk (title / full description) Risk Owner Key Existing Controls 
Current rating 

 
Impact     L'hood     Grade 

Controls planned 
Mitigated rating 

 
Impact     L'hood     Grade 

Balancing the Budget over the 
medium term 

We are unable to match the 
delivery of coalition priorities 
and core Council services to 

funding levels in the context of 
the Coronavirus crisis and 

ongoing funding. 

Mike 
Baldock & 
Lisa Fillery 

- Budget setting & monitoring process and 
Medium-Term Financial Plan  

- Awareness of proposed changes to local 
government finance 

- Information sharing at Chief Finance Officers and 
Chief Accountants Groups 

- Use of specialist local government financial 
consultants 

- Reserves strategy 
- Income generation initiatives 

- Ongoing regular reporting to SMT and the 
Leader, including a Finance Sub Group to consider 

the budget and fees & charges 

5 3 15 

- All services to review budgets with a view to 
achieving the required savings (of £2.875m) to 

deliver a balanced budget for 23-24 
- Aligning the fees & charges and budget setting 

process 
- Future Council decision making to ensure 

resources match spending plans 

4 3 12 

Design of Major Contracts 
Changes in political direction 
(central and local) or service 

specification result in significant 
changes in how major contracts 
are delivered when the contract 

expires (e.g. grounds 
maintenance and waste).  This 
along with the impact of the 
economic crisis and adverse 
market forces has significant 

financial consequences for the 
Council. 

Mike 
Baldock, 

Julian 
Saunders & 

Martyn 
Cassell 

- Robust tender process that includes the early 
identification of contracts approaching the end of 

their term 
- Consultant engaged for grounds maintenance 

and waste contracts to provide guidance on 
financial implications and meeting industry 

standards 
- Ongoing engagement with Members to provide 

a clear perspective on direction  
- Awareness of central government legislative 

changes 
- Review potential methods of operation, 

including researching approaches adopted by 
other local authorities 

- Early market testing to support financial 
predictions 

- Design of waste specification completed with 
careful consideration of financial implications and 

good use of competitive dialogue process to 
inform 

- Grounds maintenance contract completed and 
in final transition 

5 3 15 

- Continued Member engagement especially 
since change of governance structures, 

discussion at environment committee and 
Member briefing ahead of final contract award 

committee 
- Continue to follow Government consultations 

on new legislation – some basic updates 
received but no confirmation on when full 

details will be released 
- Final waste and street cleansing tender stage 

underway followed by evaluation 
- Continue to research alternatives to 

commissioned services and ways to reduce 
financial implications 

5 3 15 

  

P
age 130



7 
 

Risk (title / full description) Risk Owner Key Existing Controls 
Current rating 

 
Impact     L'hood     Grade 

Controls planned 
Mitigated rating 

 
Impact     L'hood     Grade 

Cyber Security Incident 
Security breach or system 

weakness leads to cyber-attack 
that results in system 

unavailability and financial or 
legal liability. 

Mike 
Baldock & 
Julie May 

- Effective backup arrangements 
- External testing 

- ICT policies & staff training, including disaster 
recovery plan 

- Cyber security testing & training, plus awareness 
quarterly campaigns 

- Nessus scanning software reporting daily on 
system vulnerabilities 

- Darktrace enterprise cyber immune system 
deployed 

- New firewall in place (August 2022) 

4 3 12  4 3 12 

Affordable Housing 
Limitations in funding and 

market interest result in failure 
to develop a good quality, viable 

project for the delivery of 
affordable housing. 

Ben Martin 
& Charlotte 

Hudson 

1) Access to expert consultancy and legal advice 
2) Strong relationships with RPs that develop in 

Swale 
3) Capital funding agreed by Council 

4) SBC Landholdings identified to support the 
project 

5) Review of best practice 
6) Initial scoping and viability work undertaken on 

landholdings 
7) Available sources of funding reviewed 

8) Testing the market for possible partners 
9) Local Housing Company set up and director 

appointed to lead on development of sites 

4 3 12 

1) Deliver 3 development sites agreed by 
Cabinet 

2) Monitor market for land acquisitions 
3) Acquire suitable land to enable development 

of Affordable Housing 
4) Homes England grant application being 

developed 
5) Become an investment partner with Homes 

England 
6) Rainbow Homes to become a registered 

provider 

4 2 8 

Borough wide Infrastructure 
Infrastructure programmes 
don't align to the local plan 

review and the Infrastructure 
Delivery Plan and fail to make a 
robust case for public funding 

and / or to support 
development proposals that 

create sustainable communities. 

Mike 
Baldock, Flo 
Churchill &  

Joanne 
Johnson 

- Regular communication with developers, KCC, 
Kent CCG and infrastructure agencies (i.e. 

highways) government 
- Independent specialist advice / support to work 

on viability / realistic development modelling  
- Pursue funding opportunities/lobby agencies 
and Government/support delivery agencies to 

progress schemes  
- Head of Regeneration & Economic Development 

actively seeking public funding 
- UK Shared Prosperity fund investment plan to 

unlock central government allocation 
- Submission of Levelling-Up Fund business case 

4 3 12 

- Continue to strengthen relationships and 
communications with developers 

- Exploring development strategy options in the 
review Local Plan to support local bids and 

funding 
- Junction 5 proposals underway and due to be 

completed by 2024 
- Pursue private sector funding streams 

- Key Street and Grovehurst junctions also 
agreed and start in 2022 

- Pursuing commitment for major improvement 
to M2J7 with KCC and Canterbury CC 

- Discussions with Sittingbourne CCG to establish 
an investment plan for the area 

3 3 9 

P
age 131



8 
 

Risk (title / full description) Risk Owner Key Existing Controls 
Current rating 

 
Impact     L'hood     Grade 

Controls planned 
Mitigated rating 

 
Impact     L'hood     Grade 

Housing Supply 
Council continues not to deliver 

the 5year housing supply 
leading to increased ad hoc 

greenfield planning applications 
and potential appeals costs. 

Mike 
Baldock & 

Flo Churchill 

- Provision of a sound evidence base to support 
the Council's proposals for housing delivery 

- Review progress against the Local Plan 
requirements and implement actions through 

housing delivery action plan 

4 3 12 

- Local Plan review being progressed 
- Promote sites with early delivery programmes 
- 2021 Housing Delivery Action Plan agreed and 

being implemented 
- Ensure Members are kept up to date with key 

regulation and legislation changes 

4 2 8 

As a result of the current 
recruitment market the Council 
struggles to recruit and retain 

the right staff resulting in 
increased costs and a loss of 

productivity. 

Mike 
Baldock, Lisa 

Fillery & 
Georgia 
Hawkes 

• Workforce strategy monitoring & reporting 
• Training & development programme (including 
hybrid working skills and SmartPath to support 

managers) 
• Occupational health, employee support and HSE 

Stress Survey 
• Recruitment process that includes ability to 
adjust pay and market supplement for hard to 

recruit jobs 
• Rewards package reviewed regularly 

• Commissioning specialist external support as 
required 

• Online onboarding of new staff 
• Use of ClearReview to encourage continuous 

conversations and clear objectives 
• Hybrid Policy and service review of hybrid 

working arrangements 

3 4 12 

- Explore further creation of career grades and 
the ability to bring in graduates 

- Strengthen the succession planning process 
- Explore an increase in HR resources to support 

alternative recruitment methods 

3 3 9 

Climate & Ecology Emergency 
The Council is unable to deliver 

the climate & ecological 
emergency motion agreed at 

Council in June 2019. 

Julian 
Saunders & 

Martyn 
Cassell 

- Climate & ecology emergency Member / officer 
steering group established  

- Annual report to Council to monitor progress 
- Corporate Action Plan being delivered 

- Annual revision of action plan including focus on 
top 10 actions 

3 3 9 

- Swale House refurbishment will be completed 
- Environmental gains factored into major 
contracts (e.g. GM, and Waste and Street 

Cleansing) 
- Key environmental policies remain in draft 

(new local plan) 

3 3 9 

  

P
age 132



9 
 

Risk (title / full description) Risk Owner Key Existing Controls 
Current rating 

 
Impact     L'hood     Grade 

Controls planned 
Mitigated rating 

 
Impact     L'hood     Grade 

Swale House Refurbishment 
As a result of cost uncertainties 
in the construction market the 
refurbishment of Swale House 
does not support 'new ways of 

working'. 

Monique 
Bonney & 

Emma 
Wiggins, 
Joanne 

Johnson 

- New ways of working (NWOW) steering group in 
place to support physical and cultural changes 

- Participation in Climate & Ecological Emergency 
group 

- Consultant (Quartz) in place to provide advice to 
project team 

- Cabinet agreement to award the contract March 
2022.  Work to start from late spring 

- Contract in place to govern the works 

3 3 9 
- Regular contractor meetings to monitor 

delivery 
 

2 2 4 

Focus on established priorities 
Emerging issues and short-term 

initiatives dissipate resources 
away from statutory 

responsibilities and established 
priorities, inhibiting the 

Council’s ability to deliver on 
the administration’s medium-

term objectives. 

Mike 
Baldock & 

Larissa Reed 

- Agreed corporate plan priorities which have 
been prioritised and are being monitored through 

Pentana 
- Service planning process for 2022/23 designed 
to relate activity more explicitly to resources and 

priorities 
- Regular one-to-one meetings between cabinet 

members, deputies and heads of service and 
regular Cabinet meetings on progress of priorities 

- Robust budget-setting process  
- Single CLT member identified to 

monitor/coordinate cross-cutting work on each 
corporate-plan objective  

- Directors have overall responsibility for the 
delivery of the priorities 

- Annual report process to be focused on 
corporate-plan objectives 

- Business cases prepared to link projects to 
priorities & corporate plan 

3 3 9 
- An LGA Peer Review happened in September 

2021 on Recovery – progress against delivery of 
actions is monitored every 6 weeks 

3 2 6 

  

P
age 133



10 
 

Risk (title / full description) Risk Owner Key Existing Controls 
Current rating 

 
Impact     L'hood     Grade 

Controls planned 
Mitigated rating 

 
Impact     L'hood     Grade 

Funding Capital Spend 
Delivery of coalition priorities 
requires capital spend which 

cannot be accommodated 
within the revenue budget.  

Including pressures from 
delivery of Swale House 

Refurbishment and lending to 
Rainbow Homes. 

Mike 
Baldock & 
Lisa Fillery 

- Revenue implications of capital explicitly funded 
through revenue budget 

- Liaison with commercial tenants 
- All capital projects to have business case agreed 

by Committee 

3 3 9 

- Capital schemes may generate new revenue 
income streams 

- Generation of capital receipts through selling 
assets 

- North Kent Pooled Business rate fund to meet 
capital costs 

- Work more closely with commercial tenants 
- Consultant working on the Rainbow Homes 

business case and reviewing costs 

3 2 6 

Major Contractor Failure or 
Decline 

Contractor financial difficulties 
in general or impacts from 

economic/market factors result 
in existing suppliers not 

delivering as per the contract.  
This results in the Council not 

getting the anticipated level of 
service or at its worst a 

complete failure in the service / 
company insolvent. 

Mike 
Baldock, 

Julian 
Saunders & 

Martyn 
Cassell 

- Robust tender process 
- Contracts in place and regularly monitored 

- Annual reconciliation of invoices paid to 
contractors 

- Regular dialogue with contractors and use of 
performance mechanisms 

- Awareness of industry developments and best 
practice 

- Routine financial checks 
- Discussions with contractors around the impact 

of COVID-19 / other external issues 
- Supporting contractors to undertake new 

initiatives to resolve problems 

3 2 6  3 2 6 

As a result of the introduction of 
the committee structure 

members / officers initially 
struggle to adapt to new 

governance arrangements, 
leading to potential reduction in 

performance. 

Mike 
Baldock & 

David 
Clifford 

- Member briefings 
- Officer training on informal mechanisms for 

decision making and presenting to committees 
- Training for current Cabinet Members 

- Legally compliant Constitution 
- Member constitution working group continues 

to meet regularly 
- Robust mechanisms including pre-committee 

meetings and forward decision plans for sighting 
decision-makers on reports 

2 3 6 
- Ongoing ability to tweak the Constitution as it 

beds in 
2 3 6 

  

P
age 134



11 
 

APPENDIX Ia  Definitions for Impact and Likelihood 

The overall risk score is comprised of impact and likelihood.  So that we achieve a more consistent understanding 

when assessing risks, the following definitions are used to inform the assessment of risks.  

RISK IMPACT 

Level Service  Reputation Wellbeing Legal/Compliance Financial Strategic Objectives 

Catastrophic 
(5) 

Ongoing failure to 
provide an 
adequate service in 
a key area 

Perceived as a 
failing authority 
requiring 
intervention 

Significant staff 
dissatisfaction, long 
term absence, or 
increased staff 
turnover including 
key personnel 

Litigation almost certain 
and difficult to defend. 
Breaches of law 
punishable by 
imprisonment. Possible 
responsibility for death. 

Uncontrollable 
financial loss or 
overspend over £1.5m 

Failure to deliver 
multiple key 
priorities 

Major (4) Key service areas 
disrupted 5+ days  
Other service areas 
ongoing failure 

Significant 
adverse national 
publicity 

Adverse staff 
dissatisfaction, or 
increased absence 
and turnover of 
staff 

Litigation expected and 
uncertain if defensible. 
Breaches of law 
punishable by significant 
fines. Fails to prevent 
death, causes extensive 
permanent injuries or 
long-term sick 

Financial loss or 
overspend greater 
than £1m 

Failure to deliver 
key priority 

Moderate (3) Key service 
disruption 3-5 days 
Other service 
disruption 7+ days 

Adverse national 
publicity of 
significant 
adverse local 
publicity 

Declining staff 
satisfaction, or 
some loss of staff 
due to absence or 
turnover 

Litigation expected but 
defensible. 
Breaches of law 
punishable by fines. Fails 
to prevent extensive 
permanent injuries or 
long- term sick. 

Financial loss or 
overspend greater 
than £700k 

Unsatisfactory 
delivery of priorities 

Minor (2) Key service 
disruption 2 days 
Other service 
disruption 2-7 days 

Minor adverse 
local publicity 

Short-term 
dissatisfaction, 
minor loss of staff 
due to absence or 
turnover 

Complaint or litigation 
possible. 
Breaches of regulations or 
standards. Long term 
injuries or sickness. 

Financial loss or 
overspend greater 
than £100k 

Poor delivery of 
priorities 

Minimal (1) Any service 
disruption 1+ day 

Unlikely to cause 
adverse publicity 

Loss of staff morale 
but unlikely to 
result in absence or 
turnover of staff 

Unlikely to cause 
complaint. 
Breaches of local 
procedures. 

Financial loss or 
overspend under 
£100k 

Minimal reduction 
in delivery of 
priorities 

 

RISK LIKELIHOOD 

 

Page 135



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Miscellaneous constitution updates
	6 Sittingbourne Town Centre - Supplementary Planning Document
	220627-Appendix I-STC-SPD-Statement of Consultation Report-V4
	211220-Appendix II- STC-SPD- SEA & HRA Screening Assessment Report-V2
	220819-Appendix III Sittingbourne Town Centre, Final SPD, Sept 2022 V2

	7 Forward Decisions Plan
	8 Financial Management Report - First Quarter Monitoring 2022/23
	9 Risk Management update
	Appendix I - Risk Management Update


